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Message From The

CHAIRMAN

~

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

The financial years reported in this year annual report are of
2021-2022 Financial year and 2022-2023 Financial year
representing for 6 months period from 15t October 2021 to
31t March 2022 and 12 months from 1t April 2022 to 31+
March 2023 respectively which is due to the regulation issued
by Directorate of Investment and Company Administration
(DICA).

I am pleased to inform you that our main source of income is
from operating business and the factories are operation
smoothly inside Thilawa SEZ. This is due to tremendous support
from the Chairman of Central Body for Myanmar Special
Economic Zones, Vice Senior General-Soe Win, the Chairman
of Central Working Body for Myanmar Special Econc_imic Zones
and Union Minister fo_f Ministry of Commerce H.E U Aung Naing Oo
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and the Chairman of Thilawa SEZ Management Committee
Chairman U Yan Naing Tun. We are very grateful to them,
since without all their strong support, manufacturers in SEZ
cannot get stable power supply and trade facilitation. I would
also like to thank Yangon Regional Government Chief Minister,
H.E U Soe Thein and Yangon Mayor H.E U Bo Htay for their
support on water tariffs to be in line with local industrial zones
to keep our SEZ attractive for foreign direct investments.

At the end of this financial year, we also have a change at the
top management of our joint venture, Myanmar Japan Thilawa
Development Limited. Our CEO, Mr. Shigeo Fukuda, who was
in MJTD since 2021 was reassigned to Tokyo Head Office and
succeeded by Mr. Toru Haneda in April 2023. T would like

express my thanks to Mr. Fukuda for his t_rémendous efforts



to keep the operations of our joint venture smoothly during
challenging times. I believe the incoming CEO of MJTD,
Mr. Haneda will continue to build up new milestones and
achievements on the base of our strong foundations.

At the beginning of FY 2023-2024 Mr. Masayuki Hirano
succeeded Mr. Kazunori Iida as Head of Customer Department
and Operations Department. Although there was the top
management changed from JV partners, MTSH dispatched
Officers, Chairman U Win Aung, Vice President U Thurane
Aung, Admin & HR Officer U Myint Zaw and Chief Financial
Officer Daw Yu War Tun continuously put their effort to keep
the effective operational and financial performance of MJTD.
In addition to the succession plan, we were able to reduce
the total management fees of both expats and local Chief
Levels and department heads considerably resulting more
profits in our joint venture. MJTD Management fee 16% saving
as a first step from Dec 2021, additional 26% saving starting
from Apr 2022.

Our subsidiary, Thilawa Property Development Limited (TPD),
achieved good results in the financial years stated in this year
annual report. It is also the 1st time for TPD since its
establishment to declare dividend of 1.5 billion Kyats to be
distributed among TPD Shareholders. TPD still has retained
profit of 8.5 billion Kyats to be used for reinvestment in the
MSME Commercial Hub which is being planned to develop
within the residential and commercial area. We plan to start
a pilot project and once the pilot project takes off, we will
replicate its success model into a much larger skill.

We are working with full corporate responsibility towards our
community to obtain high efficiencies and sustainable growth.
The significant activities that we had done for our community
is Covid-19 Vaccination Program, where we provided first and
second dose vaccines for 9,860 people and booster dose for
8,970 people including our employees and their families under
Thilawa SEZ Covid-19 program. At the same time, we continued
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to remain focused our “Back to School Program” and donated
stationary supplies to 7 Schools all over Thanlyin-Kyauk Tan
area. In addition, we donated rice bags to 1,700 households
and 100,000 Kyats each to 135 senior citizens reside in TSEZ
nearby through our Food Assistance Program and Cash
Assistance Program.

We are pleased to report that MTSH remained the most traded
shares on Yangon Stock Exchange (YSX) in the last two financial
years. It holds 65% and 59% of total shares traded on YSX
in FY 2021-2022 and FY 2022-2023 respectively. In terms of
trading value, 41% of total trading value on YSX came from
MTSH’s shares. This shows significantly that trust and interest
of public on our company is still undoubtedly strong which we
are truly appreciate and grateful for. Total transaction of MTSH
shares were 827 million Kyats and 2,333 million Kyats for
FY 2021-2022 and FY 2022-2023 respectively, the highest
compared to any share on YSX.

Although FY 2021-2022 and FY 2022-2023 were very
challenging years, the Board has recommended 50 Kyats per
share as a dividend for the needs of our shareholders since
future projects and financial matters were managed cautiously
by our management team.

In conclusion, I would like to express our gratitude to our
Board of Directors, Management Teams led by MD of MTSH
and TPD, U Myint Zaw and all our employees, new CEO of
MJTD, Mr. Toru Haneda and staffs, for their hard work and
dedication. Last but not the least we would also like to thank
to our shareholders and stakeholders who support us in all
our endeavors. Transforming and performing in during this
time were challenging and yet every challenge brought the
opportunities, thus we can assure you that we are ready to
overcome these challenges and exploit the opportunities with
determination and confidence to create value for our
shareholders as well as our stakeholders.
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Our company, Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public Co., Ltd.
was incorporated on 3 May 2013 under the Myanmar
Companies Act as a public limited company.

Our company was initially established by a Myanmar Consortium
comprising of nine founding shareholders initially for
participating in the Zone A industrial park development within
the Thilawa Special Economic Zone, which the Myanmar
Government and the Japanese Government have co-invested
to develop pursuant to the Cooperation Memorandum.

On the 20th of May 2016, our company’s shares commenced
trading on the Yangon Stock Exchange. Our company is the
second company to be listed on the Yangon Stock Exchange
and the first developer of a Special Economic Zone of Myanmar
to do so.
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Out of nine founding shareholders, remaining seven founders @O 0090000[9101? 89qp=§§03056§50033 ng‘fg @) 39'%05 <‘005§]

of the Company are as follow: 22§§03¢ 6320050 erwanoofgjop opg® ()9 03§§AlooRS -
1. First Myanmar Investment Public Company Limited o1 00(®)gen 3aC0A(BIN§) 3agpest 200D P PBB000d
2. Golden Land East Asia Development Public Company Ji 6g8Cezncg 3308 BrodionodesE 3agpisEoonedteanopu®
Limited 880005
3. Myanma Agricultural & General Development Public o1 [§erc00S0m0gaians st mcogengd BroBionadeq; saqp:3E
Company Limited 0pgaRc880005 (226632 B8320505)
4. Myanmar Edible Oil Industrial Public Company Limited 61 [§§$0290058005(c8)33C2(cd) 32Ea05000§q0d sagpistacod
5. Myanmar Technologies and Investment Corporation BEeom cpgaBcddood (s2633:33E833)
Public Company Limited O [g5er5p5:0p0058 qE:84g08q c0r53easqEiaaqpsdE opgad
6. National Development Company Group Public Company QuisleRtes)
Limited G 3a§r000:8, [Bpod:00056qEmgBepde 880005
7. New City Development Public Company Limited With Qi [B,6095208¢ BroBonodee; sagpidtorgaBaddonaiodeadisnod
(17,037 ) of shareholders, MTSH is the public listed company ~ 229quSuxq€ edlE: (09,09q) 8: §rorfGa e §od [§eiteo
with the highest number of shareholders in Myanmar. 20550006 Sagpieixdotoopd 3aqpssto0neiteom opgaBigddlaopd
Company Registration Number : 151830293 chcgme)cI)oS(Bis;?oS ©99o9v0JER

Certificate of Commencement of Business : 66 of 2013-2014

Corporate Structure

Myanmar — @ 9 Founding
Thilawa @ IPO Shareholders
SEZ Holdings
Public Co., Ltd.
Public
@ IPO Shareholders
Japan International
; — Corporation Agency
&hllawa SEE Thilawa Property Myanmar Japan
anagement :
c . Development Thilawa =
Sl Limited Development
Company Limited MMS Thilawa
ok S
Limited Development Co., Ltd.

Y ¥V

Note : Out of 9 Founding Shareholders, 7 founders are remaining
: MMS Thilawa Development Co., Ltd owned by
(1) Mitsubishi Corporation, (2) Marubeni Corporation, (3) Sumitomo Corporation
(4) Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, (5) Mizuho Bank and, (6) MUFG Bank
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Thilawa Special Economic Zone

Thilawa SEZ is the first Special Economic Zone in Myanmar under corporation between Myanmar and Japan. The project is

developed in 2,400 ha land, phase by phase. Not only industrial area but also residential and commercial area, rental factory

and rental office are developed.
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Thilawa Garden City

MTSH has established Thilawa Property Development Limited
(TPD) in March 2015 to develop, construct, market, lease and
operate 35 hectors of Residential and Commercial Area in

Thilawa SEZ which is implementing “Thilawa Garden City
Project”.

THILAWA

G AR DE N
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MTSH 0025 a3codl F8fely & Bpokoooess c880ocd (TPD) o3
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UPCOMING PROJECTS BY MTSH

Gyogone Housing Redevelopment Project

Gyogone Housing Redevelopment Project which is located in Insein Township at the northern part of Yangon City. 5.8 km or
approximately 17 minutes drives from Yangon International Airport. Total development project area is about 16 Acres.
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making progress towards the development of Micro, Small

& Medium Enterprise within Thilawa Special Economic Zone.

ABeodlzaopegniceprianoyt: 3acconn 22600:00:E 3ac00SECSg: § [Bpodion0deqezacgod "MSME Commercial Hub” 8603§:0%
260mEzp000566H Gaongodogniepdigbilaopd

A I L, 10
IR, O

MSME Commercial Hub Project Area
' < S PR

Electric Power Distribution Planning is unclear development by utilizing
solar energy whichisa* Renewable Energy” in Thilawa Special Economic
Zone starting from 2023 to 2024.

[§c0pd% Belogtieat (Renewable Energy) onbelgbeon esgikaatols
Solar Energy o} 32034{gfe S3codlsacn:Bigaieapas saopt:op€ jo jo-
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Our Vision

To invest in the development of Thilawa SEZ, Yangon Region, for all around socio and economic growth of
the Republic of the Union of Myanmar and to become a regional leader attracting foreign direct investments.

oG93
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Our Mission

To create value for all our shareholders, investors, partners, employees and communities by investing and
providing reliable, sustainable business environment through the development of world class industrial and
commercial infrastructure with responsible international practices and good governance ensuring long term
growth.
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GCorporate Value

-

Sustainability
(eqgedoogdordtacy)

The process followed diligently

to manage financial, social and

environmental risks, obligations
and opportunities.

Transparency

(g8cobiabooyiials)

There is a real need for the
business to be open with
all stakeholders.

Responsibility
(0220§8¢fee)

Beyond normal CSR with a
responsibility to prevent human
rights harms, whilst ensuring
corrective avenues are available
for infringements.

Efficiency
(30[gCeniopigbizecnt§aqy)

Maximize outputs from given
inputs, and in doing so,
minimize costs.

Notable
(905empodonttan)

Significant, memorable and
worthy of attention.

Training
(ecpoq§ootfoprevies)

Develop employee skills to
keep the business competitive.

-

Goal Oriented
(vsp0begboopl qpbqudqed
0§ aepodiocy)

Focus on tasks and
the end results of those tasks.

Health and Safety
(ofewoqroodagpodesd
cpdc§igl mgepoSontiqlices)
Identify workplace health and
safety risks and put together

comprehensive risk mitigation
measures.

12
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Board of Directors’ Profile

U Win Aung

Chairman

Date of Appointment: 8 July 2013
Last Re-elected: 23 March 2022

U Win Aung is the Chairman of the Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings
Public Co., Ltd. He is one of the initiators and the lead negotiator
between Japan and Myanmar Government leaders as well as
founder Chairman for Myanmar private sector’s involvement in
the implementation of the Thilawa SEZ jointly with the Japanese

investors, to create investment opportunities for Myanmar Citizens.

U Win Aung founded and continues as the Chairman of the Dagon
Group of Companies since its establishment in 1990. Since 1993,
Dagon Group of Companies has successfully implemented property
development projects. Dagon Group of Companies engages in
wide range of business in general trading, residential and
commercial development such as shopping malls, hotel
development, integrated agricultural development, value added
food industry, logistics and distribution, automobile distribution,
petroleum distribution, and in other business sectors. He is the
Chairman of Myanmar Agro Exchange Public Limited (MAEX)
which specializes in agri value chain & infrastructure development
such as Danyingon wholesale market that sells vegetables, fruits
and flowers. He is also founder and Chairman of Golden Land
East Asia Development Limited (GLAD), which is one of the
founding public companies of MTSH. U Win Aung was elected as
President of Union of Myanmar Federation of Chamber of
Commerce and Industries from 2011 to 2016.

He was also Chairman of ASEAN Business Advisory Council (ABAC)
(2013-2014) and Chairman of Greater Mekong Sub-region Business
forum (GMS-BF) (2012-2014). He was also one of the members
of National Economic and Social Advisory Council (NESAC) &
UNESCAP Advisory Council.

BioC:e32080005 Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public Co., Ltd &l
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U Theim Wai
Vice Chairman

Date of Appointment : 8 July 2013
Last Re-elected : 30 March 2021

U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun (“U Theim Wai") is the Vice Chairman
of the Board of Directors and one of the Principal Shareholders
of the Company. He is a Myanmar national and the Executive
Chairman of FMI. In 1983, he founded Serge Pun & Associates
Limited in Hong Kong SAR and eventually returned to Myanmar,
the country of his birth, to establish Serge Pun & Associates
(Myanmar) Limited ("SPA") in 1991.

In 1992, U Theim Wai established FMI as one of the earliest
(unlisted) public companies in Myanmar. In 2006, he led Yoma
Strategic to a successful listing on the Mainboard of the SGX-
ST. In 2016, he also led FMI to be the first company to be
listed on the YSX. He was also instrumental in listing Memories
Group on the Catalist Board of the SGX-ST in 2018.

U Theim Wai is a member of the ASEAN Regional Business
Council. He is a standing member of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference of Dalian and a member of
the Asia Business Council. He is also the Chair of the
International Advisory Board of Singapore Management
University for Myanmar. U Theim Wai is a frequent speaker in

international forums in Myanmar and ASEAN Region.
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U Tun Lwin
Vice Chairman

Date of Appointment: 8 July 2013
Last Re-elected :24 June 2020

U Tun Lwin is a Vice Chairman of the Company. He has been
the Chairman of MAGDPL since 2012, which is one of the
biggest shareholders of our Company. MAGDPL is a public
company and is currently developing container and general
cargo handling International Terminal at plot number 29 of
the Thilawa Port Area, among other business operations.

He is the Director of MAPCO and he is also the Director of
Myanmar Citizens Bank Limited. He is serving as the Vice
Chairman of National Resources Development Company
Limited too.

He is presently the Managing Director of Shwe Me Group of
Companies. He is the Chairman of SCG — Shwe Me Logistics
(Myanmar) Co., Ltd, Director of Betagro (Myanmar) Co., Ltd
and ICP Shwe Me Fertilizer Co., Ltd.

He is currently serving as the Chairman of Myanmar Pulses,
Beans and Sesame Seeds Merchants Association, the Central
Executive Committee Member of UMFCCI and the Treasurer
of Myanmar-Japan Association.

The companies he is associating are currently exporting
agricultural products, importing construction materials and
general cargo, providing logistics services, developing terminal
at Thilawa port area, growing teak plantations and involving
in other business sectors too. He attended the Audit Committee
Master Programme in April 2018 jointly sponsored by
International Finance Corporation and Myanmar Institute of
Directors.

Bi0g5:03E 2005 cpgaBel 30800 prgodBs [gbcloopdS agoopd
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Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet
Independent Director

Date of Appointment : 1 November 2014
Last Re-appointed : 23 March 2022

Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet is an Independent Director of the
Company. He serves as member of the Peace Commission,
Honorary Professor at the University of British Columbia, in
Vancouver Canada, Research Professor at Kyung Hee University
of Global Finance and Trade, in Seoul Korea, Chairman of the
UN Global Compact Myanmar Network, Advisor to the Union
of Myanmar Federation of Commerce and Industries, Visiting
Professor at Yangon University and Yangon University of
Economics and National Contact Point for the Organization
for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD)
Responsible Business Conduct, Chief Coordinator of Union
Enterprise of Humanitarian Assistance, Resettlement and
Development in Rakhine (UEHRD) , Member of Myanmar

Investment Commission.

Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet holds a Bachelor of Commerce from
Yangon University, a Post-Graduate Diploma in Management
Studies from the University of Brighton, M.Sc. in Operations
Research from the University of Warwick and a Ph.D. in
Management Sciences from the University of Manchester and
a Post-doctoral Research Fellow from University of Marburg.
He was awarded an Honorary Doctorate D.Litt. Degree by the

Yangon University of Economics in 2015.
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U Aung Nyunt
Independent Director

Date of Appointment : 23 October 2016
Last Re-appointed :23 March 2022

U Aung Nyunt is an Independent Director of the Company.
He was appointed in October 2016. From 1966 to 2007, nearly
(41) years of services at Myanmar Timber Enterprise — Finance/
Account Department, Planning Department and retired as a
General Manager (Planning). As an attached duty in 1991, he
served as a Director (Finance) for two years at National
Industrial Holding Company Limited (NIHL) (Public Company).
From 1995 to 1996, he was a part time Director of Myanmar
Forest Products Joint Venture Company Limited (Forest 1.V),
Myanmar Korea Timber International Company Limited (MKTI),
Myanmar Seal Company Limited (M.S.L) and International
Business Centre (1.B.C) Co., Ltd. Starting from 2008 to 2013,
he was an Independent Auditor for the Union of Myanmar
Federation of Chambers of Commerce and Industry (UMFCCI),
Myanmar Engineering Society (MES), NGO-Japan Seeds Asia
Project, Trustee Board of Pyi Shwe San Taw Pagoda and
International Business Centre Company Limited (I.B.C) under
the name of Aung Nyunt and Associates (Auditors). During
his service at the Ministry, he has joined and attended various
Financial Management Seminars in (9) different countries. He
attended the Audit Committee Master Programme in April
2018 jointly sponsored by International Finance Corporation
and Myanmar Institute of Directors. He was born in 1944 and
studied at Myoma National High School. He graduated with
B.Com (Accounting) in 1964 and Registered Accountant (Full-
fledge) (now CPA) in 1965 respectively.
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U Toe Aung Myint
Independent Director

Date of Appointment : 30 March 2021
Last Re-appointed : 23 March 2022

U Toe Aung Myint is an Independent Director of the company.
He served in Ministry of Mining in 1980 and served as officer
in Ministry of Defense from 1981 to 1985. From 1985 to
2018, he worked in Ministry of Commerce for 33years and
retired as Permanent Secretary in August 2018. As an attached
duty, from August 2016 to August 2018 he participated as
Member of Myanmar Special Economic Zone Central Working
Body and served as Joint Secretary in Myanmar Special
Economic Zone Central Body. He was Member of Myanmar
Investment Commission from 2016 to January 2021. He is
Chairman of Board of Director in Myanmar Citizens Bank
since 2013 to until now.

He was born in 1958 and graduated with Bachelor of Science
in Geology from Rangoon Arts and Sciences University in
1979. He got Certificate of Administration Course from Yangon
Institute of Economic in 1987 and Certificate of Export Market
Development Programme from Japan -Singapore (AOIS/
TDB) in 1999. He attended Mekong Institute in Thailand and
got Certificate of Enterprise Reform for the GMS in 2002 and
Certificate of Leadership for Competitive Enterprise System
in the GMS in 2004. He received Certificate of Global Supply
Chain Policy for Senior Officer Course from Temasek
Foundation International in 2012, Diploma in International
Economic Relations and Development (IERD) from Graduate
School of Administration and Development of Ministry of
Planning, Finance and Industry in 2017 and Certificate of
Temasek Foundation International Governance and Public
Administration Programme from Civil Service College
(Singapore) in 2017.
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U Htay Chun
Independent Director

Date of Appointment : 6 October 2022
Last Re-appointed : Not applicable

U Htay Chun is an Independent Director of the Company. He
served at the Planning Department for 22 years, from 1972
to 1994, and at the Directorate of Investment and Companies
Administration for 16 years, from 1994 to 2010, under the
Ministry of National Planning and Economic Development.
He retired as the Deputy Director General of the Directorate
of Investment and Companies Administration in 2010. He

has 38 years’ experience as a Government Officer.

After retirement, he also served as a Commission member
of the Securities and Exchange Commission of Myanmar for
8 years, from 2014 to 2022, and as a Commission member
of the Myanmar Investment Commission for 5 years, from
2016 to 2021.

U Htay Chun holds B. Econ (Statistics) in 1971 and Diploma
in Economic Planning in 1979 from Yangon Institute of
Economic and Registered Lawyer from Ministry of Education
in 1981.
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U Thaung Han
Non Executive Director

Date of Appointment : 29 June 2021
Last Re-elected : 23 March 2022

U Thaung Han is a Director of the Company. He is the Board
member of New City Public Company Limited, which is one
of the founding shareholders of MTSH. He is Co-Founder and
Managing Director of CB Life Insurance Company which was
established in 2021. He is also Secretary of Myanmar Insurance

Association which was established in October 2017.

He is also the Managing Director of CB Securities Limited and
Management Committee Member of CB Bank. He was in
Agriculture Commaodity Trading/ Export & Import before he

joined CB Financial group.

He graduated from Rangoon Institute of Technology in 1987
and achieved Master of Business Administration from Jinan
University Guanzhou, China in 2013.
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Dr. Nyan Thit Hlaing
Non-Executive Director

Date of Appointment : 2 August 2013
Last Re-elected : 24 June 2020

Dr. Nyan Thit Hlaing is a Director of Myanmar Thilawa SEZ
Holdings Public Company Limited. He is also one of the
Directors in Thilawa Property Development Limited (TPD).
He is currently Managing Director of the National Development
Company Group Limited (NDCG), which is one of the Principal
Shareholders of our Company. NDCG is a Public Company
engaged primarily in the business of construction, trading and
general services. He is a Director of Proven Technology
Industrial Co., Ltd (TOYO Battery). He is also the Executive
Director of SME-Development Bank which is established to
provide financial assistance to small and medium enterprises
(SME) in the country. He is Joint Secretary of Myanmar
Construction Entrepreneur Association. Dr. Nyan Thit Hlaing
graduated with a Bachelor of Medicine from the University of
Medicine (1) Yangon in 1995.

63650 ParH008ciEa0Rd [g5e0B00d 3205(8)Fkacd Jratodbonod
gpi5E0058386000 0pgaBdB8onodel dgo500088gddaopdn
2005 3Bcwudl veepdo?s 3050600880005 (TPD) 6 dodom
0088:00p5: [g60laopdn 09a0p5005§ogE sadjpoonsg Brod:oncdesg
e300 0880005 (NDCG) 6il 33656981 050200088ksAloopdn
NDCG 255 oboopgaiail qubaxnmagprag: §8B8opqpiasgady
B4R B osorgtospogics oo SR bl
aa609e0R 0feaobinpbofiqpid cenbgnooph saepdt ol oobe
[g620051 992005 Proven Technology Industrial Co., Ltd &l 9§05
020223 0€ 006455 030005 [GpS0pE:§ saeooiost sacchon:
opOckiqps) 6gelo3edCapeooniiy Guie$0Pd 32600:e0:eE FC0D
os008c§sqps ¢ [BreqeonadopEaopds 3agee0nEaldndom 0odBasied
6enEgadag 0§ Myanmar Construction Entrepreneur
Association & ojoo53a038:66:000p5: [§6Aloopdn esloSom
220%00603€0005 opes) 95603E gf0p§Ee0:0033305 (0) © Bachelor
of Medicine o3 [¢& e320E[gE3cloopd

ANNUAL REPORT | 23



U Myint Zaw
Managing Director

Date of Appointment : 29 September 2018
Last Re-elected : 30 March 2021

U Myint Zaw is a veteran in the trading and investment industry
with over 20 years of experience. He is currently the Managing
Director of Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public Co., Ltd and
its subsidiary, Thilawa Property Development Limited, since
the company's founding in 2013.

Throughout his career, U Myint Zaw has managed the trading
of commaodities such as agricultural products and palm oil,
invested in manufacturing automotive spare parts, hospitality
and services, construction and property development. He has
a background in the development of rental factories business,

condominium projects, hotels and auto parts manufacturing.

During his tenure as Sales & Marketing Director at MTSH,
U Myint Zaw's primary responsibility was marketing Thilawa
SEZ to potential investors and promoting events. He has also
served as the Officer and General Manager of the Administration
& HR Department, where he successfully established new
standard operating procedures, company rules, and
procurement policies as well as handled general affairs at
MJTD.

U Myint Zaw's educational qualifications include a Bachelor
of Science (Chemistry) degree from Yangon University,
a Master of Business Administration (MBA) from the University
of Thai Chamber of Commerce, a Diploma of Business Law
(DBL) from Yangon University and a Myanmar Directorship
Certification from the Myanmar Institute of Director (MIoD)
and Singapore Management University (SMU).
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U Thurane Aung
Executive Director

Date of Appointment : 1 September 2019
Last Re-elected : 30 March 2021

U Thurane Aung is the Project Director of our Company and
Vice President of Myanmar Japan Thilawa Development Limited
(MJTD). His diversify experiences came from more than 17
years of service in Dagon Group, which is one of the leading
conglomerates in Myanmar with diversified businesses in
sectors that include property development and construction,
hospitality, timber, agriculture, commodity trading, plantation,
retail and distribution, petroleum, automobile and food

processing.

His primary responsibility in MTSH is to coordinate among the
stakeholders for the smooth running of existing business as
well as develop new opportunities and investment within
Thilawa SEZ and beyond.

He also contribute much of his time for the development of
the different business sectors he is in by joining the Executive
Committee Member of Myanmar Construction Entrepreneur
Association (MCEA), Vice-President of Yangon Region Young
Entrepreneur Association (YRYEA). He holds a Bachelor of
Arts (Honors) in Business Information Management & Finance,
which he obtained from the University of Westminster, United
Kingdom in 2004. He is also a winner of the esteemed title of
“Asia’s Most Admirable Young Leaders” at the prestigiouos
Asia Corporate Excellence & Sustainability Awards (ACES)
2021.
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U Min Oo

Non-Executive Director

Date of Appointment : 01 September 2019

Last Re-elected

U Min Qo is a Director of the Company. He is the Board member
of Myanmar Technologies and Investment Corporation Public
Company Limited (MTI), which is one of the founding
shareholders of MTSH. He is the Vice President of Myanmar
Computer Professionals Association and President of Myanmar
Business Executives Association. He also serves as the
Executive Committee member of Myanmar Computer
Federation. He graduated with a Master of Computer Science
from Yangon Computer University in 1999 and achieved Master
of Business Administration from Yangon Institute of Economic
in 2005. He holds Post Graduate Diploma in Law, Diploma in
Political Science and enhanced Diplomatic Skill from Ministry

of Foreign Affairs.
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Daw Aye Aye Aung
Non-Executive Director

Date of Appointment : 01 September 2019
Last Re-elected : 30 March 2021

Daw Aye Aye Aung is a Director of the Company. She is the
Managing Director of Asia Mega Link Co., Ltd. She is the
Director of Asia Mega Link Services Co., Ltd and Yatanarpon
Teleport Public Co., Ltd as well. She is also a Central Executive
Committee Member of Yangon International Airport Information
Technology Communication Center and the Director of
Myanmar Agro Exchange Public Limited (MAEX). She graduated
with a B.E (Electronic) and also a professional Engineer (P.E)
recognized by the Myanmar Engineering Council. She was
awarded the ASEAN Engineer Certificate of AFEO Governing
Board in 2014. She achieved the Master of Business

Administration from Yangon Institute of Economic in 2002.

03l 632:682:6320E00p5 0rgBel 050098, 0E083: [gB3loopdn
apeo0d Asia Mega Link Co., Ltd e 3p6q5¢9id050m0 00d8dqdBn
Asia Mega Link Services Co., Ltd s¢ Yatanarpon Teleport Public
Co., Ltd &1 31§0502:00088:30[gb 03008 006:6800Eq05 §loopdn
odl eaasezniezntaopd Yangon International Airport Information
Technology Communication Center ¢l oo3ga0p63agee008 98,0€
00584568 Myanmar Agro Exchange Public Limited (MAEX) &i
305000 323, 080068:00p5: (g8 Aloopdi edl eanseaaiesantoond B.E
(Electronic)[gé 33,80 [g§<r8E¢maEqiE8omgpieomEde 3203
326005(g|oopd Professional Engineering (P.E) 0088:[g&claopSu
apeoopd j0og 956038 AFEO Governing Board ¢l 320332005(g|
a0pd ASEAN Engineer cooecbam: o0qfE:8E¢e §egéfgt:dqd
20pSi 0peoopd 0o, | 9§803E gSmEBigesiongradade Master of
Business Administration (MBA) 03 08 q§oo:030068:c005:

G80gSs

ANNUAL REPORT | 27



U Wanna Khine
Non-Executive Director

Date of Appointment : 23 March 2022

Last Re-elected : Not Applicable

U Wanna Khine is a Director of Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings
Public Company Limited. He has been working as a Managing
Director at Denko Trading Co., Ltd. and as a Director at Gold
Delta Co., Ltd and Eden Group Company Limited. Denko
Trading Co., Ltd is a Company that fulfills the growing demand
of Fuel Consumption of Myanmar People as much as possible
and Gold Delta Co., Ltd specializes in farming and production
of high quality rice. In a career spanning over two decades,
U Wanna Khine has worked in senior management level in
industries across the spectrum including construction, hotels

& resorts, banking, fuel supplies, agriculture and energy.
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Key Management

U Myint Zaw
Managing Director

The Profile of U Myint Zaw is on page no (24).
Please refer to the page for the detail.
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U Thurane Aung
Project Director

The Profile of U Thurane Aung is on page no (25).

Please refer to the page for the detail.
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Daw Yu War Tun is the Chief Financial Officer of Myanmar
Thilawa SEZ Holding Public Company Limited and concurrently
the Chief Financial Officer of Myanmar Japan Thilawa

Development Limited.

Daw Yu War Tun has over 17 years of experience in Accounting,
Auditing, Financial Reporting and analysis, Taxation, Internal
Controls, and Business planning.

She has been working in Myanmar from 2005 to 2010 and
subsequently moved to Singapore, and gained experience in
Singapore-registered companies, including in the CMG Group
(Singapore) Pte Ltd. which is a 100% subsidiary of the
Interpublic Group of Companies (a company listed on New
York Stock Exchange). And then she joined MTSH in December
2017 as Group Finance Manager and in August 2020 as Head
of Finance.

Daw Yu War Tun holds a Bachelor of Commerce from Yangon
Institute of Economics and a Bachelor of Science degree in
applied accounting from Oxford Brookes University (UK). She
is also admitted Certified Public Accountant of Myanmar.
Member of Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountant (ISCA)
and Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA).
Accomplished Myanmar Directorship Certification by Myanmar
Institute of Director (MIoD) and Singapore Management
University (SMU).
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Nomination Committee (NC)

Chairman
Members

- U Tun Lwin, U Thurane Aung

The Nomination Committee consists of the Chairman (an
Independent Director of the Board) and a minimum of 2 other
members. The Nomination Committee currently consists of

3 members.

The purpose of the Nomination Committee is to consist the
Board in ensuring that it maintains the appropriate balance
of skills, knowledge and diversity to support the Company’s
strategic objectives and that a clear and transparent
appointment process for directors is in place. The principal
responsibilities of the Committee are to;

(A) Review the size, structure and composition of the Board,
including the skills, knowledge, experience and diversity
of Board Members and make recommendation accordingly;

(B) Identify and nominate candidates for appointment to
the Board, based on merit and against objective criteria;

(C) Make recommendations to the membership of the Audit,
Remuneration and Nomination Committees in consultation
with the chairmen of those committees; and

(D) Develop and periodically review, any objectives

established for the implementation of diversity on the
Board and minority progress toward the achievements
of those objectives.

- Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet (Independent Director)
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Remuneration Committee (RC)

Chairman - U Toe Aung Myint (Independent Director)

Members - U Thaung Han, Dr. Nyan Thit Hlaing, U Wanna Khine

The Remuneration Committee supports the Board of Directors
in establishing and periodically reviewing MTSH’s compensation
strategy, guidelines and performance criteria as well as
preparing the proposals to the General Meeting regarding the
compensation of the members of the Board of Director and

of Key Management personnel.

The Remuneration Committee consists of the Chairman (an
Independent Director of the Board) and a minimum of 3 other
members. The Remuneration Committee currently consists

of 4 members including the committee chairman.

The success of MTSH is dependent on its ability to attract,
retain and incentivize the right talented employees. MTSH
employee remuneration comprises of fixed and variable
components, with the variable components directly correlated
with Key Performance Indicators aligned with the Company’s

Business Plan.

IS0 38, 0Cqpsst 29800036000 209eeoCPi30R0) Fee(o3eg
&BEep Alagp: ABb506800EgNaSPist 9dieenEapdem: 3a03fyod
cBobo oo5gcbafyh soffonbolie it cfenboogSeps
:e0geagopSimcoigpiogé :a3[g8 EqSm0305 dac[ogieg
60756032005 d§050m93,a3 [0y 02E[Gerd [gddloopdn

6050030gem|gd (godrdEaNAGoB000B:sE so5pbietimag of
(p) B:Aepd Fo9603:ege0750032005 CLd§ogE 223,08 (g) Bigé
3,0p5:000:3100051

e5ep32$3|gpie R:oEongps 0pgEqP:ea: GomEigsg00d
203 pdonglqpicosd) gpegesoonigtielopt opgadel camnigiend

§EwnamieomEiendloogdi

0§c0digpsel ComdEgtePidnupd: Heoodengtaalgt 0odB:qt:Bel
85568008605 opgBel Sxgasee; 328320gp3a6d 260m0EI0005

e658Eqqpied gonpde) 3208 [aE:qp:oe:8EaS Bodooddlaopdn

Governance & Compliance Committee (GCC)

Chairman - U Htay Chun (Independent Director)
Members - U Tun Lwin, U Thurane Aung,
Committee Secretary - U Thaung Han

The Governance and Compliance Committee consists of 4
members and Independent Director of the Board is acting as
the Chairman with a minimum of 3 other members of the

Committee.

Being a Public company and listed company at YSX, the
Company has been maintaining and promoting public trust
and confidence towards the company’s current and future

business development.

It is with the primary duties and responsibilities of all of the
officers and employees to perform their functions in accordance
with all applicable laws, rules and regulations of the regulating
and supervising authorities, as well as with those of the

company.

The Committee always supervises and monitors whether the
officers and employees adhere to laws, rules and regulations,
together with the guidance from terms of reference of
compliance matters issued by the Committee, and reports to

the Board of Directors.
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Audit & Risk Committee (ARC)

Chairman
Members

- U Aung Nyunt (Independent Director)
- U Tun Lwin, U Min Oo

The Audit & Risk Committee consist of the Chairman
(an Independent Director of the Board) and a minimum of 2
other members. The ARC currently consists of 3 members.

At least member has to have recent and relevant financial
expertise; the other must be familiar with the issues of
accounting and audit. In discharging its responsibilities, it has
unrestricted access to the Company’s management, books
and records. The ARC supports the Board of Directors in its
supervision of financial controls through a direct link to Win
Thin & Associates (external auditors) and the internal audit
department.

The ARC regularly reports to the Board on its findings and
proposes appropriate actions. The responsibility for approving
the Annual and Semi-Annual Financial Statements remains
with the Board of Directors.
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Management & Business Development Committee (MBDC)

Chairman
Members

- U Thurane Aung (Executive Director)

The Management & Business Development Committee (MBDC)
currently consist of 5 members and U Thurane Aung (Executive
Director) has been acting as the Chairman with a minimum
of 4 other members in this Committee.

This Committee has senior management oversight of the
planning and strategy, financial and business, and infrastructure
operations of the Company.

Furthermore, the committee shall seek and evaluate for new
business development opportunities and propose Board of
Directors for investment decision for long term growth of the
Company.

In this committee, the members contribute with the best of
their local & international knowledge and experiences to guide
and direct the activities of MTSH as well as ensuring the
effective management and new business activities and project.

- U Thaung Han, Dr. Nyan Thit Hlaing, U Min Oo, Daw Aye Aye Aung
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS' INTEREST IN SHARES

As of (31.3.2023 and 9.5.2023), none of our Directors hold Shares in our Company except of as set out below:
Holdings Registered in name Holdings in which Director is
Sr. Kispia of Director as at deemed to have an interest as at
31.3.2023 9.5.2023 31.3.2023 9.5.2023
1. |UWin Aung 256,340 256,340 2,029,046 2,029,046
2. |UTheim Wai @ Serge Pun - - 643,503 643,503
3. |UTun Lwin 658,850 658,850 1,921,010 1,921,010
4. |Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet - - - -
5. |UAung Nyunt - - - -
6. |UToe Aung Myint - - - -
7. |UHtay Chun - - - -
8. |U Thaung Han - - 2,352,665 2,352,665
9. |Dr. Nyan Thit Hlaing - - 1,149,122 1,149,122
10 . |U Myint Zaw 11,210 11,210 1,900,000 1,900,000
11. |U Thurane Aung 493,540 493,540 143,150 143,150
12. [UMin Oo - = 1,135,209 1,135,209
13. |Daw Aye Aye Aung % = 1,513,583 1,513,583
14 . |U Wanna Khine = - 1,948,640 1,948,640
As of (31.3.2023 and 9.5.2023), none of our Executive Officer hold Shares in our Company except of as set out below:
Holdings Registered in name Holdings in which Executive Officer is
Sr. e of Executive Officer as at deemed to have an interest as at
31.3.2023 9.5.2023 31.3.2023 9.5.2023
1. |Daw Yu War Tun - S = =
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BOARD MEETINGS

Our Board and Board Committees have held the meetings to assess and evaluate Company’s business performance, key activities

and strategic policies. The company has held the meetings in FY 2021-2022 & FY2022-2023 are as follows:
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Board Meeting AGM
Director 5/2021-2022 | 6/2021-2022 | 7/2021-2022 [1/2022-2023 |2/2022-2023 |3/2022-2023 |4/2022-2023 | 5/2022-2023 A
(20.12.21) (7.3.22) (18.3.22) (23.3.22) (10.6.22) (6.10.22) | (14.12.22) | (17.3.23)
U Win Aung v v v v v v v v )
U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun
(or his Alternate Director, U \ A v v v Vv v v Vv
Tun Tun)
U Tun Lwin W W v W v W v v W
Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet v v v - - v ) v v
U Aung Nyunt Vi v v \i W W Vi v Vi
U Toe Aung Myint v v v v v - v v v
U Htay Chun - - - - - - v v
U Thaung Han \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \
Dr. Nyan Thit Hlaing \ v v v \ v v v \
%U Tin Maung Hlaing v v v = - f B B v
U Myint Zaw \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \
U Thurane Aung \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \
U Min Oo \ \ \ \ \ \ \ Vi \
Daw Aye Aye Aung Vi v v \ v v v v v
3U Wanna Khine - - \ - \ - \
u Htay Chun, Independent Director of the Company was appointed with effective from 6 October 2022.
U Tin Maung Hlaing, Director of the Company retired his role with effective from 23 March 2022.
3U Wanna Khine, Director of the Company was appointed with effective from 23 March 2022.
Nomination Committee From 1st Oct 2021- 31st March 2023
Sr Committee Names Designation 1/2022-2023 (1.7.2022)
1 Prof Dr. Aung Tun Thet Chairman \
2 U Tun Lwin Member v
3 U Thurane Aung Member v
Remuneration Committee From 1st Oct 2021- 31st March 2023
Sr Committee Names Designation 1/2022-2023 (30.3.2023)
1 U Toe Aung Myint Chairman \
2 Dr Nyan Thit Hlaing Member v
3 U Thaung Han Member v
4 U Wanna Khine Member \
Governance & Compliance Committee From 1st Oct 2021- 31st March 2023
Sr Committee Names Designation 1/2022-2023 (20.1.2023)
1 U Htay Chun Chairman \
2 U Tun Lwin Member \
3 U Thurane Aung Member Vv
4 U Thaung Han Committee Secretary v
Management & Business Development Committee From 1st Oct 2021- 31st March 2023
Sr Committee Names Designation 1/2022-2023 2/2022-2023 3/2022-2023
&n (7.4.2022) (3.10.2022) (13.3.2023)
1 U Thurane Aung Chairman \ \ \
2 U Thaung Han Member v v v
3 Dr Nyan Thit Hlaing Member - \ \
4 U Min Oo Member v \ v
5 Daw Aye Aye Aung Member v \ v
Audit & Risk Committee From 1st Oct 2021- 31st March 2023
sl c ittee N Desionati 4/2021-2022 | 5/2021-2022 | 1/2022-2023 | 2/2022-2023 | 3/2022-2023 | 4/2022-2023 | 5/2022-2023
T | Lommittee Names | Designation | qy5091) | (20.122021) | (7.4.2022) (7.62022) | (14102022) | (14.122022) | (283.2023)
1 U Aung Nyunt Chairman N \/ \ \ \ v v
2 U Tun Lwin Member \ v v v - - v
3 U Min Oo Member \ v v v v v v
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DIRECTORS' REPORT

The Directors’ Report for the Financial Year ended 31st March 2022 has been prepared in accordance with the Myanmar
Companies Act and the Myanmar Financial Reporting Standards and the Financial Year ended 31st March 2023 has been

prepared in accordance with the Myanmar Companies Act and the International Financial Reporting Standards.

38

RISK MANAGEMENT
The explanation on Risk Management are expressed on page (44 ).

DIVIDENDS/DISTRIBUTIONS

Based on the financial position as at 31t March 2023, the dividend distribution of MMK 50 per share, amounting to MMK
1,946,457,500 was proposed by the Board of Directors Meeting held on 24" April 2023. Will be formally announced by
the Board of Directors to the shareholders at the 10th Annual General Meeting.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS
There has been no significant change in the Group’s state of affairs. The Company continues to engage in the business
of investment holding.

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO BALANCE SHEET DATE
There were no material events subsequent to the end of the financial year.

AUDITORS
Aresolution will be tabled by the Board of Directors to the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting for the reappointment
of Win Thin & Associates (Certified Public Accountants) as the Company’s external auditors for the Financial Year
2023-2024.

NON-AUDIT SERVICES
Win Consulting Limited (a related company of Win Thin & Associates) was engaged as voting invigilator for election of
directors in Annual General Meeting.

We have engaged U Win Thin of Win Consulting Limited as our compliance officer. U Win Thin is the Chairman of Win Thin
& Associates. The appointment took effect from 14" March 2016.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors,
Win Aung
Chairman
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Corporate Governance
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Corporate Governance

Mission

To realize the achievement of corporate sustainability through governance based upon the principles of transparency,
accountability, responsibility, independence and fairness.

To realize the empowerment of the function and independence of each corporate body: the general shareholder’s meeting,
the Board of Directors and the executive management.

To realize a condition in which all corporate bodies make their decisions and implement them on the basis of high moral
values and adherence to existing laws and regulations.
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Corporate Governance Goals

3.
4.

To improve our Company'’s performance through the creation of decision-making processes, improving operational efficiency
and improving services to stakeholders.

To improve corporate value by improving financial performance and minimizing investment decision risks that contains
conflicts of interest.

To improve investor trust.

To achieve stakeholder satisfaction resulting from corporate values and company dividends.
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GCorporate Governance

Roadmap & Implementation

Introduction

Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public Co., Ltd. (MTSH) is a
publicly listed company, it is committed to build good corporate
governance on the foundations of accountability, fairness,
and transparency. To be a sustainable and responsible business,
MTSH has made a great effort to promote the long-term
benefits for shareholders and have public trust by shaping up
well in our management and performance of our company.

Corporate Governance Guidelines

The Board of Directors and key management had set the
standard operation procedure (SOP) and the norms of integrity
and ethical behavior which will be applied in the respective
tasks of employees and officers. In addition, the Board of
Directors has full responsibility to serve as a prudent fiduciary
for shareholders through the best practice in good corporate
governance. At Annual General meeting, the shareholders
elect and designate the Board members year on year with the
aim of overseeing their interest in the long-term success of
the business. Afterward, the Board serves as the ultimate
decision-making body of the company, except for the matters
that is concerned with Shareholders' decision. The Board
chooses the most suitable members of senior management
who will operate and implement the business plans according
to the Board of Directors' guidelines. The Board of Directors
has established Corporate Governance Guidelines which
provide a framework for the effective governance of the
Company. The guidelines address matters such as the Board's
mission, Director responsibilities, Director qualifications, Board
Committee structure, Managing Director performance
evaluation and management succession.

4?2 | ANNUAL REPORT

United Nations Global Compact

As one more significant step towards a sustainable and
responsible business, MTSH has participated into the United
Nations Global Compact and has become one of the members
of it since June 2015. Since then, MTSH has complied with
ten principles in the four main areas of Human Rights, Labor
Rights, Environmental Rights and Anti-Corruption guided by
the United Nations Global Compact (UNGC), and then those
principles are well integrated into our business strategy, culture,
and daily operations.

Continuous Improvement

In line with our aim, “to deliver a long-term and sustainable
benefit to all shareholders, employees and community”, the
Board frequently reviews and updates the related guidelines
in order to achieve strong corporate governance of the
Company. We have benchmarked our score against average
score of listed companies by using ASEAN Corporate
Governance Scorecard, private and public companies, and
ASEAN average available from an assessment jointly published
by International Finance Corporation (IFC), Securities and
Exchange Commission of Myanmar (SECM), Directorate of
Investment and Company Administration (DICA) and Yangon
Stock Exchange (YSX). Even though our score fare better than
Myanmar average, we acknowledge there are potentials to
improve our corporate governance practices to catch up with
ASEAN average.

Conclusion

MTSH is committed to continuous improvement of its corporate
governance practices to deliver long-term benefits to all
stakeholders.
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Risk Management

Effective risk management is a key foundation of delivering
our strategy and integral to the achievement of our objective
of creating value for stakeholders. Our risk management
framework comprises risk governance, risk assessment, risk
response and monitoring and reporting.

Risk management is the process of identifying, measuring
and treating property, liability, income, and personnel exposures
to loss. The ultimate goal of risk management is the
preservation of the physical and human assets of the
organization for the successful continuation of its operations.

In risk governance structure, the Board (as assisted by the
Audit & Risk Committee) is responsible for overall risk
management of the company. The Audit, Risk & Compliance
Committee takes responsibility for overseeing the effectiveness
of risk management and internal control systems on behalf
of the Board, and senior management is tasks with
implementing the system.

We have adopted the three lines of defense approach to allow
effective oversights of risk management process by Board.

In first line of defense, day-to-day management of risk is
embedded within operational management. Head of business
units and departments ensure that daily operations are in
compliance with established policies, standard operation
procedures (SOPs), guideline and regulation.

Risk management functions serve as second line of defense
by establishing and implementing the risk management
framework. Risk management assists business units and
departments in risk management process, reviewing risk
management framework for improvement, and reporting to
senior management and the Audit & Risk Committee.

Internal audit acts as third defense line by providing assurance
to the Audit & Risk Committee on the effectiveness of risk
management, controls and governance practice. Key findings
and internal auditor’s recommendations for improvement are
regularly reported to the Board through the Audit & Risk
Committee.

Risk management function is responsible for effective
implementation and review of our risk management framework,
while ultimate responsibility for oversight of risk management
rests with the Board.
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Risk appetite defined the amount of risk we are willing to
tolerate in pursuit of our strategy and objective and we have
identified tolerance level for each of the principal risks. It
promotes consistent, ‘risk-informed’ decision-making process
and it also supports robust corporate governance by setting
clear risk taking boundaries.

In our risk assessment process, risk registers are used to
document the risks identified, level of severity and probability,
ownership and mitigation measures for each risk. We have
identified three major risks that may have negative impact on
executing our strategy and achieving our business objective.

- Strategic risk
(Political, Socio-Economic, Technology, Legal and
Reputational risk)

- Operational risk and
(Environmental, Compliance, IT, Fraud, Health & Safety
and Natural Disaster)

- Financial risk
(Foreign exchange risk, Credit risk, Market risk, Liquidity
risk and refer to note 4 of financial statement for more
detail)

Our approach to risk management is not to eliminate the risk
entirely, but instead to manage our risk exposures across the
business, whilst at the same time making the most of our
opportunities. We aim to establish robust and effective internal
controls in place to bring the risk to as low as reasonably
practicable (ALARP) level, which will allow the management
to focus on treatment of residual risk.

The audit of risk management committee headed by a financial
expert had conducted (2) coordination meetings with the
Management and Business Development Committee for new
projects in Solar and Trading Business. The Audit & Risk
Management Committee put up the outcomes of risk
assessment factors and suggestion to the Board of Directors
meeting.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk due to assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies. There is a
significant financial risk arising from the fluctuation of foreign
exchange rate, which accounted for the highest proportion
of the Group’s realised exchange gains/ (losses) transaction
in the income statement.
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Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer
or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its
contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group
and Group’s receivables from third party customers. The
internal audit group always reviews on the current consolidated
financial statements on this aspect of credit risk.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices and the
uncertainty of the value of the property. The objective of the
market risk management is to manage and control market
exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimizing
the returns.

The Group’s investment properties and land are located in
Thilawa Special Economic Zone, from which a substantial
amount of the Group’s revenue is derived. The challenging
and highly downward trend of investment properties market
condition in Myanmar affected the Group’s property rental
performance and financial condition in the year. The default
risk of tenants and the risk of tenants’ relocation were also
inevitably higher under unstable economic outlook and also
had an adverse impact on the revenue and results of the

Group. However, the Group had proactively reviewed and
taken mitigation action to reduce the impact on its property
leasing business arising from the risks mentioned above, by
maintaining a good quality of tenant mix, offering a competitive
rental package for tenants’ retention, improved property
management services and refining its business strategies.
These proactive and responsive measures enable our group
to benefit from mitigating the impact resulting from the risks
mentioned above.

Liquidity and cash flows risk

Liquidity risk is the risk of incurring losses resulting from the
inability to meet payment obligations in a timely manner when
they become due or from being unable to do so at a sustainable
cost.

The Group monitors the liquidity risk through conscious
financial planning and analysis and by forecasting cash flows
regularly, monitoring and optimizing net working capital and
ability of the Group to meet its financial obligations. The Group
maintains sufficient cash and cash equivalents, and internally
generated cash flows to finance their activities.

MTSH Risk Management
Proces (ISO 31000)

Establishment of
Management Context

Risk Assesment
Risk Identification

Risk Analysis

Risk Evaluation

Risk Treatment
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GROUP FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE MMK'million
Revenue 3,163 3,368 2,948 2,489 2,251
Gross Profit 1,681 556 1,986 1,186 1,158
Profit (Before Share o Profit from Associates) 2,131 (830) 6,443 (4,051) 595
Net Profit After Tax 4,605 1,084 8,846 4,577 8,261
FINANCIAL POSITION MMK'million

Total Assets 93,564 89,709 92,765 91,504 95,365
Total Liabilities 2,860 231 4557 4,136 4,788
Retained Earnings 44,062 39,664 42,385 40,905 43,987
NCI 7,713 7,806 7,894 7,534 7,661
Cash and Cash Equivalent 12,955 10,983 16,104 16,883 28,218
KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS

Gross profit margin (%) 53% 17% 67% 48% 51%
Profit Margin(%)(Before Share of Profit from Associates) 67% -25% 219% -163% 26%
Net Profit Margin (%) 146% 32% 300% 184% 367%
Debt-to Equity ratio 3% 4% 4% 5% 5%
Return on Equity 5% 3% 10% 5% 19%
PER SHARE INFORMATION MMK

Earning per share 113 30 218 121 211
Net Asset per share 2,330 2,219 2,292 2,244 2,327

* 6 months financial period

Revenue

MMK 3.1 Billion

#FY 2021-2022 (MMK 3.3 Billion)

# 6 months

Total Assets

MMK 93.5 Billion

#FY 2021-2022 (MMK 89 Billion)

# 6 months

Gross Profit
MMK 1.7 Billion

#FY 2021-2022 (MMK 0.5 Billion)
# 6 months

Total Liabilities
MMK 2.8 Million

#FY 2021-2022 (MMK 3.3 Million)

#6m

Net Profit
MMK 4.7 Billion

#FY 2021-2022 (MMK 1.0 Billion)

# 6 months

Cash and Cash Equivalent

MMK 12.9 Billion

#FY 2021-2022 (MMK 10.9 Billion)

# 6 months

ANNUAL REPORT | 49



50

GROUP FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Revenue (MMK' million) Gross Profit (MMK' million)
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

Most Traded Shares on YSX

MTSH has been leading the race among listed companies in
terms of trading volume and trading value on Yangon Stock
Exchange.

Within the period of October 2021 to March 2022, it was traded
a total of 270,913 shares, 827.019 million kyats in value. These
numbers indicate that MTSH was responsible for 65% of
shares traded on Yangon Stock Exchange.

In FY 2022-2023, MTSH once again topped the tally. It was
traded a total of 750,666 shares, 2333.19 million kyats in
value showing 59% of shares traded on YSX were MTSH’s.

As the global economy slowed down due to COVID-19
pandemic, YSX also saw the holdback in stock trading. However,
shares of MTSH has been being traded continuously on daily
basics amid the decline of national economy.

FY 2021-2022 TOTAL TRADING VOLUME ON YSX

m other LCs Combined
MTSH

Total Traded Shares - 414,314
MTSH Traded Shares - 270,913
Other Traded Shares - 143,401

FY 2022-23 Total Trading Volume on YSX
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FY 2021-2022 TOTAL TRADING VALUE ON YSX

® other LCs Combined
MTSH

Total Trading Value - 2,040,537,20
MTSH Trading Value - 827,019,850
Other Trading Value - 1,213,517,400

FY 2022-23 Total Trading Value on YSX
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MAJOR BENEFICIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Major Beneficial Shareholders

As of 9" May 2023, the following are our 20 major beneficial shareholders.

Certificate of incorporation/
No. Name Number of certificate of Number of Shares %
citizenship
1 |EDEN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED 118339002 1,948,640 5.01
2 |NEW CITY DEVELOPMENT PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED 114530247 1,900,000| 4.88
3 |MYANMA AGRICULTURAL & GENERAL DEVELOPMENT PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED 168982240 1,900,000| 4.88
4 |MYANMAR EDIBLE OIL INDUSTRIAL PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED* 115632523 1,797,000 4.62
5 |GOLDEN LAND EAST ASIA DEVELOPMENT LIMITED 115075667 1,771,546| 4.55
6 |NATIOMNAL DEVELOPMENT COMPANY GROUP LIMITED 196167323 1,149,122| 2.95
7 |MYANMAR TECHNOLOGIES AND INVESTMENT CORPORATION PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED 117380068 1,135,209| 2.92
8 |ASIA MEGA LINK COMPANY LIMITED** 104307876 994,924 2.56
9 |UTUN LWIN 12/LAMATA(N)013763 658,850 1.69
10 [FIRST MYANMAR INVESTNMENT COMPANY LIMITED 121398001 643,503 1.65
11 [U NAING MOE 12/LAMATA(N)011754 537,980 1.38
12 [U THURANE AUNG 12/KAMAYA(N)050839 493,540| 1.27
13 |DAW EI HNIN PWINT 12/KAMAYA(N)050838 412,040 1.06
14 |CB SECURITIES LIMITED 193605222 320,735| 0.82
15 |GREAT BELL LOGISTIC & SERVICES CO.,LTD*** 101054004 291,348 0.75
16 |U AIKETI 13/TAKHALA(N)037160 278,842 0.72
17 |U KYAW ZAW THANT 12/LAMATA(N)034764 277,220 0.71
18 |DAW MOE MYA MYA 12/KAMAYA(N)045039 257,500 0.66
19 |U WIN AUNG 12/KAMAYA(N)008220 256,340| 0.66
20 |ASIA WORLD INDUSTRIES LIMITED**** 105925921 249,847| 0.64

* Out of which 1,797,000 shares are being pledged to Ayeyarwaddy Farmers Development Bank Public Co.,Ltd.
** Out of which 314,806 shares are being pledged to CB Bank Ltd.
*** Out of which 101,000 shares are being pledged to CB Bank Ltd.
*¥*%* Out of which 152,000 shares are being pledged to CB Bank Ltd.
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SHAREHOLDERS STATISTICS

We set out below our Company's Shareholder Statictics as at 9.5.2023

Range of Shares No of Shareholders Percent (%) No of Shares Percent (%)
1-1000 13,937 81.80% 3,901,333 10.02%
1001-2000 1,087 5.97% 1,665,996 4.28%
2001-3000 509 2.99% 1,363,454 3.50%
3001-4000 166 0.97% 585,318 1.50%
4001-5000 389 2.28% 1,908,500 4.90%
5001-6000 618 3.63% 3,267,381 8.39%
6001-7000 84 0.49% 552,034 1.42%
7001-8000 40 0.23% 300,720 0.77%
8001-9000 33 0.19% 280,742 0.72%
9001-10000 27 0.16% 260,211 0.67%
10001-100000 179 1.05% 4,441,115 11.41%
100001-1000000 31 0.18% 8,800,829 22.61%
1000001 and above 7 0.04% 11,601,517 29.80%
Total 17,037 100% 38,929,150 100%
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Timely & Continuous Disclosure

We are in compliance with YSX's Disclosure Outline and Requirements which were set up to build public confidence in the fairness
and soundness of the Stock Trading and our best efforts have been put in disclosing our company corporate information to the
public and investors for them to make informed investment decisions without delay. Our company’s corporate information is
promptly disclosed on YSX’s website and our company’s website. Our Company’s financial statements and annual reports can
be accessed on both websites mentioned above. We have made the following statutory and voluntary disclosures at YSX from
1st October 2021 to 31t March 2023.

03$dRorgrBopt qf:dgSopapiel o3foiedefieoadst qf:$50sqsEoocdajEoopd sdilgodqodapiqpodepagt [Gpdégn 0o8:qfeoqs
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qoXaoph gopdecornsioddfst ofbosi oosdaladypiogé (rpbadel: oapoesiariapiogt oyfSagopgalel ooamasgtiontist 5dod
386C00qp:dotAaopd o jo 9561 6330053000 (0) §eBese 0 _JP95d 60500 (p0) Q500 0§00 PLESSE s0§30q CPOdEEDYEdGP:E:
68305665[gdl @ux:03€ (03058 Edlaopd

Date Disclosed Matter

21tDec. 2021 | Notice of Proposed Dividend for Financial Year 2020-2021, Record Date and Ex-Dividend Date
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30" Dec. 2021

Notice of Financial Results for Financial Year 2020-2021

30" Dec. 2021

Management Discussion and Analysis

24" Feb. 2022

Invitation of 9th Annual General Meeting

24" Feb. 2022

Annual Report (FY 2020-2021)

25" Mar. 2022

Resolutions passed at the 9th Annual General Meeting held on 23rd March 2022

24th Feb. 2022

Invitation of 9th Annual General Meeting

Annual Report (FY 2020-2021)

25th Mar. 2022

Resolutions passed at the 9th Annual General Meeting held on 23rd March 2022

30th Jun. 2022

Notice of Financial Results for Financial Year 2021-2022

Management Discussion and Analysis

13th Oct. 2022

Appointment of Chief Financial Officer

28th Dec. 2022

Interim Consolidated Financial Statements for six months ended September 30, 2022

Interim Results — Management Discussion and Analysis
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Continuous Response to COVID-19

Ever since the pandemic broke out, we coped with changes
and adapted new practices as required. It is our first and
foremost mission to protect as many lives as possible. We set
our priorities and took necessary measures to make sure our
efforts had an impact for our people and communities. Our
core principles of thriving through covid-19 were

« To protect our employees and their families

e To help our communities to overcome the pandemic

* To create a safe working environment
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We proceeded annual medical checkups for our employees
at ARYU International Hospital for last two years so that our
staffs could take precautions and lead themselves to healthier
lifestyle.

o§603eo§ cobsgps [PBjonCoaB[giomngud8Eesst d8ogfercan
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Up to March 2023, there were 9,860 people whom we provided

with covid-19 vaccination. 8,970 people received additional

booster doses.
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We timely donated medical supplies, lab equipment and oxygen tanks to Insein General Hospital, Thanlyin General Hospital,
Kyauk Tan Hospital and Kyauk Tan Oxygen Center.

:E:BEape0geogespdapesog(ois | 0§aqE[gpSageso 1 cogpobon§iesoigss coqpodon§if,$0S eemodaBqtgSeoess sacamadaany(q|
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We developed the business continuity plan and a new reporting system that allowed our employees do their job smoothly without
risking the chance to get infected with Covid-19 virus.

0800832 6ePABie0p:00560q 3 GE:0361000cSip:03 ol elgeqpeg,grcpdeecnt§tas BCP Plan & cpdesiapdeamntqongiggod 0sd
20803005: eagagoyEadiddiaopdn

We will keep monitoring and revising our practices and actions in accordance with the guidelines and suggestions that WHO
and MOH has released.
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Holding of 9" Annual General Meeting

On 23rd March 2022, 9th Annual General Meeting of Myanmar
Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public Co., Ltd (MTSH) was held online-
based event. Due to the Covid-19 Global Pandemic, AGM event
was held virtually via ZOOM Webinar platform instead of
regular physical annual meeting which almost 3,000 attendees
were recorded every year.

In the meeting, U Win Aung, Chairman of MTSH stated the
significant progress of the company, its financial data, future
potential business projects for MTSH and the success of Thilawa
Special Economic Zone in Myanmar. As the following agenda,
U Myint Zaw, one of the BOD members reported to the
shareholders on the Company's F2020-2021 Financial Report
and Directors’ Report to be approved. In the 9th Annual General

Meeting, shareholders approved the meeting resolutions of

(1) to approve Company'’s FY 2020-2021 Financial Statements
and Directors’ Report, (2) to announce the dividend payment
that was proposed by the Company for FY 2020-2021, (3) to
appoint (i) U Win Aung, U Thaung Han, U Min Oo as re-elected
directors and U Wanna Khaing as newly elected director(ii)
to re-appoint the incumbent Independent Directors: Prof. Dr.
Aung Tun Thet, U Aung Nyunt and U Toe Aung Myint, (4) to
re-appoint Win Thin and Associates as external auditor for FY
2022-2023 and (5) to get approval of rewarding 1.3% of net
profit of FY 2020-2021 as BOD Bonus to members of the
Board.

The event was held successfully with the shareholders of 50%
shareholding registered for their voting rights.
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SUSTAINBILITY & SDGs REPORT
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MTSH, our associates and subsidiary companies have been
working diligently in areas of sustainability since inceptions.
Our leaders are some of the largest supporters of philanthropic
causes and our company has led the industry in good

governance and ethics practices for some time.

Our biggest opportunity lies in taking a strong position in
support of environmental sustainability. Recent studies have
shown that buildings account for as much as 40% of the
earth's greenhouse gas emissions, which are believed to
contribute to climate change. As a leading real estate services
firm in Myanmar, our ability to influence how real estate is

built, sourced, occupied, and sold, is unsurpassed.

Climate change is a significant risk for Myanmar; extreme
weather may impact our operations. We believe we can make
a tangible impact on our environment by improving energy
efficiency, reducing greenhouse gas emissions. We will work
with our tenants and business partners to make greener

environment, and contribute to the fight against climate change.

MTSH recognizes the value of aligning with the international
standards for sustainable and responsible business practices.
MTSH is a member of the United Nations Global Compact
(UNGC) since 2015. The UNGC was initiated in 2000 to promote
global corporate responsibility with 10 guiding principles. We
support the Sustainable Development Goals ('SDGs'), adopted
in 2015, a plan to tackle the world’s most pressing social,
economic and environmental challenges. SDGs cover 17 topics
and propose appropriate targets for 2030. We are also
dedicated to complying with the United Nations Universal

Declaration of Human Rights.

MTSH is commitments to the United Nations Global Compact
(UNGC), the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals,
and strive to improve the integration principles into our culture,
strategy and operations as an ongoing commitment to being

a responsible business.
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GOOD HEALTH
& WELL-BEING

Subject Objective Target Timeframe Result
Good Health | To provide local communities | To reduce the Covid-19 Oct 2021 Vaccinating 9,860 persons for
and with quality healthcare and | transmission rate and pre- ~ Covid-19, Booster dose for
Well- Being | ensure their daily functions | vent loss of lives during June 2022 8,970 Persons. Medical check-
are not burdended by poor | pandemic up and consultation for em-
medical condition. ployees.
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QUALITY
EDUCATION
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Subject Objective Target Timeframe Result

Quality To help creating better access | To ensure children from July 2022 Stationary donation to 7 schools all
Education | to education and provide | families of unstable financial ~ over Thanlyin-Kyauk Tan. Provided
necessities for students of | situations are able to go to Feb 2023 monthly stipend to a Medical student,
all ages school in times of crisis employ a female intern for academic
credit, donate lap equipments to 2

schools of over 200 students.
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GENDER
EQUALITY

Subject Objective Target Timeframe Result
Gender To terminate discrimination | To increase female em- April 2021 1 out of 14 Borad of Directors is a woman.
Equality |and inequality against gen- | ployement rate ~ 1 out of 3 senior management is a wom-
ders, To create and offer equal March 2023 | an. Over 45% of middle management are
career opportunities to both women.

men and women

oqps-e o0§i0p | ogps-o F[grie0odedgst opBggap: | aGEoodiqpiel  320p0mcBE | jo o 956 offco | Sl§0Someag 0 og Bioa€ ojp08:dl§oSon
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moocdegiobielops:  =ogEaacut: | cogf JoJp 958 0050 | ¢ m0§jpoobigblgEa Middle Management i g
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CLEAN WATER
AND SANITATION

Subject Objective Target Timeframe Result
Clean Water and | To prevent water toxicity | To proceed treatment of used |  April 2021 | Wastewater was treated in sewage
Sanitation and reduce risk of water | water before discharging into ~ treatment plant with daily capacity
pollution creek and to discharge waste- | March 2023 | of 4,800 m3.
water properly
aofqlieom 6qoppaBpobigod 0m0gedes | [gBeqpliqpiancglid egfobBod: JoJo offco 6§09 0080760lE: 6,000 cE5REe0s
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osdoqeom eogpya! 9$5E gfodeqypicd osboooy g§ | Jop ecbco | [§reom eqeumEigpicd g8odgese[gd
8oosbefesg obei [g§copSao§oEqqp: [gIrgSalacpde
Affordable and To improve energy effi- | To support electricity to locals April 2021 Support electricity to Moe Kyo Swan
Clean Energy ciency and living stand- | resides around TSEZ, To ~ monastery located in the vicinIty of
ard of local communities, | reduce overuse of power in | March 2023 | TSEZ.Replacement of energy saving
To promote eco-friendly | daily functions LED lights and bulbs in offices and
effectiveness in opera- factories. Generates 1200 KW
tions electricity from two solar sites.
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apobapbeosaqe§dloopSi
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Subject Objective Target Timeframe Result

Decent work and | To create job opportunities for | To increase and retain [ Up to March | TSEZ attracted 116 tenants from
economic growth | everyone, To contribute to Myanmar | FDIs in TSEZ, To 2023 21 countries, investment totaling
natioanl economy and GDP | increase employemnts USD 2.1 billion and created over

through consistent foregin invest- | in TSEZ 13,313 jobs.

ments
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INDUSTRY, INNOVATION
AND INFRASTRUCTURE

ﬂmﬁmﬂ&nﬂﬁmm "

Subject Objective Target Timeframe Result
Industry, To maximize the effec- | To use up-to-date sys- | Up to March | Uses advanced technology like water purificant,
Innovation and | tiveness and produc- | tems in daily operations, 2023 Sewage treatment, Solid waste and industrial
Infrastructure | tivity through modern | To develop infrastructures waste management system, Periodically Environ-
and technically ad- | for local communities mental Monitoring System. Started using weather
vanced facilities monitoring system and automated invoicing
system.Built library, schools, roads and drainage

repair in near-by villages.
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REDUCED

INEQUALITIES

Subject Objective Target Timeframe Result
Reduced | To promote openness and | To proceed proper | April 2021 | Paid 18 million and 58 million kyats to Internal
Inequalities | integrity of businesses, To | taxations to the gov- ~ Revenue Department in FY 2021-2022 and FY
secure the benefits and | ernmant, To contribute [ March 2023 | 2022-2023 respectively. Food Assistance Program -
opportunities for people | basic needs to vulner- Ration supplies to 4 Villages, 6 monasteries, 1700
along with the growth of | able people households. Cash Assistance Program - 100,000
TSEZ MMK each to 135 senior citizens of 80 years and
above. Ration supplies to employees.
oBglqqp: | Bgrecpopboliqpral (Groif | aofhepd ofonkeon agh | Jo o 98B offico | Joor o 2oebsb Jorop 2oah IRt fpogds
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Subject Objective Target Timeframe Result
Sustainable To improve quality of life and | To create green spaces in |  April 2021 Planted over 2,122 trees and 3,306
Cities And lifestyle of locals by developing | commercial and residential ~ shrubs and bushes
Communities | infrastructures area March 2023
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CLIMATE ACTION

Subject Objective Target Timeframe Result
Climate |To be a responsible | To practise the safe| April2021 | Canals and ponds retention to prevent flood.
Action business that is truly [ and  eco-conscious ~ Avoid using underground aquifer and only
aware of environmental | practices in daily and | March 2023 | Reservior water is used ( Zarmani Water Reservior).
issues and take effctive | regular operations Regular monitoring of water and wastewater qual-
measures to minimize ity, air quality, noise vibration, soil contamination,
the risks water disposal and ground water quality. , Enacts
Energy efficiency program in daily activities such
as enercon time when AC and other heavy electrical
usages are put to puase for certain amount of time.
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PEACE, JUSTICE AND
STRONG INSTITUTIONS

Sponsored by

TS|

lized by

{

it Parmner

<

Subject Objective Target Timeframe Result
Peace, Justice | To uphold the | To communicate with the | April 2021 ~ | Disclosing timely on YSX, Facebook and website.
and Strong | transperancy and | public consistently, To dis- | March 2023 | Publications of Annual Report. Resolving all
Instutitions | build atrustworthy | close information regular- enquiries, complaints and concerns raised by tenants
organization ly, To follow regional and within 14 days. Practising Thilawa Compliant Man-
international guidelines of agement Procedure (tcmp) to receive, investigate and
transperancy and anti-cor- facilitate resolution of grievance caused by Thilawa
ruption SEZ activities (Grievance Mechanism). Yearly sub-

mission of UNGC report.

Bo:qbieqps | 9Ec0&{gEamqa? | soqpigoSonsan: 0fs0celgod | Joo 956 sfco | YSX, Facebook $& opgaB 0o5e88qpiopt 52§§58obe(gind
ooepigoog | B:88:9858E s0050900e[pada§st oot - 005eud[gs $6005c0S 22898800 coS[g§[gEn oG qod
oopbesoncbes; | 0§[o3pS8odqeeom | saqeieacocigpicd {plapdbedd | o o 956 edbeo [ 3a0p8s ¢aqdsongpie edledlobamneom GodicelgSiqqps
o mogSiooby | o nobfoongsd mocked cHElTgpat Fgoliaprl Seod 3550y Bhooriet
opSeanodqsi oxg Bodgodeqiadlep o3 og0Se[gqéieazapdedindsEanpd [gpSopapood $850qqp:

g€ 88&onom cobippSqd
qPiop oo

0} 005§ 0die[ggEscoidlaopSi UNGC 6 $6320§05 228
qE80> on8og8saqob§cloopd

70

ANNUAL REPORT




MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED
AND
ITS SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Currency - Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands)
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MTSH MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS PUBLIC CO. LTD.

Shwe Zabu River View Complex, 23G-1, No.3B, Tower (A), Penthouse-01 & 02, Strand Road, Ahlone Township,
Yangon, Myanmar. Tel: (+951) 2301731, Email: info@mtshmyanmar.com

STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY
FOR MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED

It is the responsibility of the management to prepare the consolidated statements of financial position of
Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public Company Limited (the Company) and its subsidiary (the
Group) as at 31 March 2022, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income of the Group,
consolidated statement of changes in equity of the Group, consolidated statement of cash flows of the
Group for the period then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
notes. In preparing these consolidated financial statements, the management is required to:

— Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; and
— Make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent.

The management is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group. We have general responsibility for taking such
steps as are reasonably open to us to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and
other irregularities.

On behalf of Management

WIN AUNG
Chairman
MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS PUBLIC CO., LTD.

10 June 2022
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£ WIN THIN & ASSOCIATES

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

HEAD OFFICE: - Room (2B/2C) 1* Floor, Rose Condominium, No.182/194, Botahtaung Pagoda Road, Pazundaung Township,
Yangon Region, Myanmar. Tel: 95-1-8201798, 8296164, Fax: 95-1-8245671 Email: info@winthinassociates.com

MANDALAY BRANCH Room (9/10), East Wing of Bahtoo Stadium, 70" Street (Between 29™ & 30" Street),

OFFICE Mandalay Region, Myanmar. Tel: 95-2-4034451, Fax: 95-2-4034498

Ref: 178/ M-255/ March 2022
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Members of the Group of Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public Company Limited

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Myanmar Thilawa SEZ
Holdings Public Company Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiary (“the Group”) set out on
pages 75 to 97 which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2022, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income of the Group, the consolidated
statetnent of changes in equity of the Group, consolidated statewnent of cash flows of the Group [o1 (he
period then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Myanmar Financial Reporting Standards and the provisions of the Myanmar Companies
Law. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to
the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit: We
conducted our audit in accordance with Myanmar Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether
the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
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Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated
financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2022 and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the period then ended in accordance with Myanmar Financial Reporting
Standards and the provision of the Myanmar Companies Law.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with the provisions of the Myanmar Companies Law, we also report that:
(i) we have obtained all the information and explanations we have required; and
(i) financial records have been maintained by the Company and by its subsidiary as required by
Section 258 of the Law.

o\

b Cowid

Saw Nelson (PAPP-400)
Engagement Partner

WIN THIN & ASSOCIATES
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

10 June 2022
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MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDI

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 31 MARCH 2022

Currency — Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands)

Note 31 March 2022 30 September 2021
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 6 3,363,717 3,475,266
Intangible asset 7 1,438 1,746
Investment in associate 8 42,498,088 40,547,919
Other investment 9 10,000 10,000
Investment property 10 4,315,612 4,129,093
Deferred tax assets 11 47,207 36,866
Net receivable under installment sales 12 - 41,535
Other assets 13 341,059 289,856
50,577,121 48,532,281
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 14 10,983,428 16,103,556
Trade and other receivables 15 1,771,560 1,546,377
Inventories 16 26,377,365 26,582,421
39,132,353 44,232,354
89,709,474 92,764,635
Equity and liabilities
Equity
Issued and paid-up share capital 17 38,929,150 38,929,150
Retained profits 39,663,611 42,384,699
78,592,761 81,313,849
Non-controlling interest 7,806,009 7,893,642
86,398,770 89,207,491
Non-current liabilities
Advance from customers 1,232,402 1,235,224
1,232,402 1,235,224
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 18 1,833,767 2,118,946
Current tax liability 244,535 202,974
2,078,302 2,321,920
89,709,474 92,764,635
The notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
Authenticated by:
”
oS .
/ %/’/
WIN AUNG TUN LWIN MYINT ZAW YU WAR TUN

Chairman, MTSH Vice-Chairman MTSH
MTSH=Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public Co., Ltd.

Managing Director, MTSH Head Of Finance, MTSH
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MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Currency — Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands)

Note 1 October 2021 to

1 October 2020 to

31 March 2022 30 September 2021
Revenue 19 3,367,739 2,947,812
Cost of sales 20 (2,811,618) (962,195)
Gross Profit 556,121 1,985,617
Other income 21 153,958 128,812
Realised exchange gains 109,321 1,457,836
Unrealised exchange (losses)/ gains 22 (839,479) 4,638,754
Selling, marketing and business development
expenses 20 (174) (29,236)
Administrative expenses 20 (809,891) (1,738,974)
(Loss)/profit for the period/year (830,144) 6,442,809
Share of profit of associate 8 1,945,559 2,581,204
Profit before tax 1,115,415 9,024,013
Income tax expense 23 (31,221) (177,561)
Net profit for the period/year 1,084,194 8,846,452
Other comprehensive income for the period/year — —
Total comprehensive income for the period/year 1,084,194 8,846,452
Profit attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 1,171,827 8,486,919
Non-controlling interests (87,633) 359,533
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 1,171,827 8,486,919
Non-controlling interests (87,633) 359,533
Earnings per share (K per share)
Basic earnings per share 24 30 218

The notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Currency — Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands)

Note

1 October 2021 to

1 October 2020 to

31 March 2022 30 September 2021
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax 1,115,415 9,024,013
Adjustment for non-cash items:
Depreciation 184,178 390,914
Amortisation 411 1,350
Write-off 1,259 1,397
Unrealised profit adjustment (6,529) (63,434)
Share of profit of associate (1,945,559) (2,581,204)
Operating (loss)/profit before working capital changes (650,825) 6,773,036
Changes in working capital
Trade and other receivables 24,816 (31,168)
Inventories (42,032) 329,923
Trade and other payables (285,179) 268,876
Advance from customers (2,822) (1,050,481)

(956,042) 6,290,186

Incone tax paid (250,000) —
Net cash (used in)/ provided by operating activities (1,206,042) 6,290,186
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (10,496) (211,827)
Purchase of intangible asset (1,007) -
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment - 399
Other assets (51,203) (90,945)
Net receivable under installment sales 41,535 240,403
Net cash used in investing activities (21,171) (61,970)
Cash flows from financing activities
Dividend paid to shareholders (3,892,915) (7,007,247)
Net cash used in financing activities (3,892,915) (7,007,247
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (5,120,128) (779,031)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period/year 16,103,556 16,882,587
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period/year 14 10,983,428 16,103,556

The notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

1.

General information

Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public Company Limited (the Company) was incorporated in the
Republic of the Union of Myanmar on 3 May 2013 under the Myanmar Companies Act. The Act
has been replaced by the Myanmar Companies [.aw 2017. As such, the Company has been re-
registered and issued Company Registration No. 151830293 according to the new Law.

On 26 May 2013, pursuant to the Cooperation Memorandum, the Company signed a Memorandum
of Understanding with MMST LLP (MMS Thilawa Limited Liability Partnership) for the purpose

of establishing the Joint Venture Company for the development, marketing, sales and operation of
the Class A Project.

On 29 October 2013, pursuant to the Memorandum of Understanding mentioned above, the
Company, the Thilawa SMC (Thilawa SEZ Management Committee) and MMSTD (MMS Thilawa
Development Co., Ltd) entered into the Joint Venture Agreement in connection with the
establishment of the JV Company to undertake the development, construction, marketing, sales and
operation of the Class A project. The Joint Venture Company was established as Myanmar Japan
Thilawa Development Ltd. (MJTD).

Under the Joint Venture Agreement, subject to the satisfaction of certain prescribed conditions
precedent, the Company will collectively subscribe for JV Company Shares of an initial aggregate
amount of US$50,000,000 in the proportions of 41%.

The principle business activities of the Company are to:

e invest in and participate in the management of the JV Company, which will engage in the
development, construction, marketing, sales and operation of the Class A Project;

e  market and sell the Class A Properties to Myanmar Related Entities as exclusive agent,
and market and sell the Class A Properties to parties which are not Myanmar Related
Entities or Japanese Related Entities jointly with the Japanese consortium members; and

e engage in the development of Thilawa SEZ (other than the Class A Area) or any part
thereof as may be determined by our Directors in their discretion.

For additional information about the Company, please refer to the Company’s Prospectus dated 27
February 2014.

The registered office of the Company is Shwe Zabu River View Complex 23G-1, No. 3B, Tower
(A), Penthouse - 01 & 02, Strand Road, Ahlone Township, Yangon Region, Myanmar.

The Company is listed in Yangon Stock Exchange on 20 May 2016.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless otherwise
stated.
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2.1

Basis of preparation

The accompanying financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with
Myanmar Financial Reporting Standards (MFRS) and have been based on historical cost
convention.

In preparing these financial statements, certain reclassifications and rearrangements have been
made in comparative financial statements to conform to the classification used in current financial
statement.

2.2 Change in reporting period

23

24

During the period ended 31 March 2022, the Company changed its financial year end from
September (i.e. former financial year end) to March (i.e current financial period end).
Accordingly, the financial statements presented are as at and for the six months ended 31 March
2022 and the twelve months ended 30 September 2021. As a result, the comparative figures
presented in statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows and the
related notes are not comparable.

The change in financial year was due to change of financial year enacted by the government.
Foreign currency translation
(1) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of
primary economic environment in which the Company operates (the “functional currency”). The
financial statements are presented in Myanmar Kyat, which is the presentation currency as well as
functional currency of the Company. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousands,
unless otherwise indicated.

(2) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at period-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the income statement.

Group Accounting
(a) Subsidiaries
Consolidation

Subsidiaries are entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has power to
govern the financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from its activities, generally
accompanied by a shareholding giving rise to a majority of the voting rights. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when
assessing whether the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date on which control
ceases.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, transactions, balances and recognized gains on
transactions between group entities are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated but are
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2.5

2.6

considered an impairment indicator of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries
have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests are that part of the net results of operations and of net assets of a
subsidiary attributable to the interests which are not owned directly or indirectly by the equity
holders of the Company. They are shown separately in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of financial position. Total
comprehensive income is attributed to the non-controlling interests based on their respective
interests in a subsidiary, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance

(b) Associated companies

Associated companies are entities over which the Group has significant influence, but not control,
generally accompanied by a shareholding giving rise to voting rights of 20% and above but not
exceeding 50%. Investments in associated companies are accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements using the equity method of accounting less impairment losses.

(¢) Equity method of accounting

In applying the equity method of accounting, the Group’s share of its associated companies’ post-
acquisition profits or losses are recognized in profit or loss and its share of post-acquisition other
comprehensive income is recognized in other comprehensive income. These post-acquisition
movements and distributions received from the associated companies are adjusted against the
carrying amount of the investments. When the Group’s share of losses in an associated company
equals to or exceeds its interest in the associated company, including any other unsecured non-
current receivables, the Group does not recognize further losses, unless it has obligations to make or
has made payments on behalf of the associated company.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associated companies are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s interest in the associated companies. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transactions provide evidence of impairment of the assets transferred. The accounting
policies of associated companies have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
accounting policies adopted by the Group.

Investment in associate

Investment in associate is initially recognized at the transaction price (including transaction costs)
under the equity method of accounting and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to
recognize the investor’s share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition. The
investor’s share of the profit or loss of the investee is recognized in the investor’s profit or loss.
Distributions received from an investee reduce the carrying amount of the investment.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rental and/or capital appreciation (or both).
Investment properties are initially recognized at cost and subsequently carried at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is calculated using a
straight-line method to allocate the depreciable amounts over the estimated useful lives of fifty
years or the balance of land use right.

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method of investment properties are reviewed,

and adjusted as appropriate, at each statement of financial position date. The effects of any revision
are included in profit or loss when the changes arise.
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2.7 Property, plant and equipment

2.8

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably The carrying amount of the
replaced part is de-recognized. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the profit or loss
during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on assets under construction commences when the assets are ready items of property,
plant and equipment less their estimated residuals values using the straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated depreciation rates are as follows:

Leasehold land 2.19%
Plant 5%
Transformers 2.17%
Building 2%-2.17%
Waste storage house 5%
Machinery and equipment 20%
Motor vehicle 20%
Computer equipment 20%
Furniture and equipment 10% - 40%
Office renovation 5% -20%

The residual values and useful lives of assets are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
the reporting period. The effects of any revision are recognized in profit or loss when the changes
arise.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognized within ‘other gains/(losses) — net’ in the statement of comprehensive income.

Intangible assets
Accounting software

Accounting software license is initially capitalized at cost which includes the purchase prices (net
of any discounts and rebates) and other directly attributable costs of preparing the asset for its
intended use. Direct expenditures are added to the original cost of the software. Costs associated
with maintaining the accounting software license are expensed off when incurred.

Computer software license is subsequently carried at cost less accumulated amortization and
accumulated impairment losses. These costs are amortized to profit or loss using the straight-line
method over their estimated useful lives of five years equivalent to 20%.

The amortization period and amortization method of intangible assets are reviewed at least at each
statement of financial position date. The effects of any revision are recognized in profit or loss
when the changes arise.
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2.9 Construction contracts

When the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue and
contract costs are recognized as revenue and expenses respectively by reference to the stage of
completion of the contract activity at the statement of financial position date (“percentage-of-
completion method”). When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably,
contract revenue is recognized to the extent of contract costs incurred that are likely to be
recoverable. When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the
expected loss is recognized as an expense immediately.

Variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments are included in contract revenue when it
is probable that the customer will approve the variation or negotiations have reached an advanced
stage such that it is probable that the customer will accept the claim and they are capable of being
reliably measured.

The stage of completion is measured by reference to the proportion of contract costs incurred to
date to the estimated total costs for the contract. Costs incurred during the financial period in
connection with future activity on a contract are excluded from the costs incurred to date when
determining the stage of completion of a contract. Such costs are shown as construction contract
work-in-progress on the statement of financial position unless it is not probable that such contract
costs are recoverable from the customers, in which case, such costs are recognized as an expense
immediately.

At the statement of financial position date, the cumulative costs incurred plus recognized profits
(Iess recognized losses) on each contract is compared against the progress billings. Where the
cumulative costs incurred plus the recognized profits (less recognized losses) exceed progress
billings, the balance is presented as due from customers on construction contracts within “trade and
other receivables”. Where progress billings exceed the cumulative costs incurred plus recognized
profits (less recognized losses), the balance is presented as due to customers on construction
contracts within “trade and other payables”.

Progress billings not yet paid by customers and retentions by customers are included within “trade
and other receivables”. Advances received are included within “trade and other payables”.

2.10 Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost comprises cost of land
scraping cost, infrastructure development cost, direct labour and other direct cost. Net realizable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of
completion and applicable variable selling expenses.

2.11 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and deposits with various local banks.
2.12 Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are initially measured at fair value, and subsequently measured at

amortized cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. Trade and other
receivables are reduced by appropriate allowance for estimated irrecoverable amount.
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2.13

2.14

2.15

2.16

R

2.18

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value, and subsequently measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest method.

Issued and paid-up share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
ordinary shares are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

Dividends

Dividends to the Company’s shareholders are recognized when the dividends are approved for
payment.

Employee benefits

Employee benefits are all forms of consideration given by an entity in exchange for service
rendered by employees. Employee benefits are recognized as payable in the period in which the
benefits is earned by employee. Past-service costs are recognized immediately in profit or loss.

Provisions

Provisions arc recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of past events; it is a probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligations; and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognized for future
operating losses.

Revenue

Revenue is recognized only when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
transaction will flow to the Company. Revenue is shown net of sales (after deducting commercial tax)

(a) Rendering of services
Revenue for rendering services is recognized over time as the services are provided. The related

costs are recognized in statement of profit or loss and comprehensive income when they are
incurred.

(b) Sale of goods

Revenue from sales of goods is recognized when the goods are delivered and title has passed to the
customer.

(c) Interest income

Interest income arising from deposit at financial institution is recognized when the effective interest
method.

(d) Dividend income
Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive payment is established.

(e) Revenue from construction contracts

Please refer to the paragraph “construction contracts” for the accounting policy for the revenue
from construction contracts.
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(f) Rental income
Rental income is recognized when earned on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount expected
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The current income tax is calculated on the
basic of the tax rate and tax law enacted or substantially enacted at the end of the reporting period.
Current income tax is recognized in profit or loss.

Deferred tax is recognized on the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the
liability is settled or the asset realised based on the tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax is recognized as an expense or income in
profit or loss, except when they relate to items credited or debited outside profit or loss (either in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity), in which case the tax is also recognized outside
profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively).

Significant accounting judgments and estimates

The preparation of the Company's financial statements in conformity with MFRS rcquires
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
accounting policies and the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

Estimate and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revision to accounting

estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future year
affected.

Infrastructure development costs

Infrastructure development costs of land are recorded as inventories during the construction stage
and an apportionment of these costs will be recognized in the statement of comprehensive income
upon the recognition of the revenue of the land under development.

These infrastructure costs comprise of awarded contracts and an estimation of future ones. The total

costs were estimated by a third-party professional Quantity Surveyor and periodically re-validated
internally.

Before the final settlement of the development costs and other costs relating to the land under
development, these costs are based on management’s best estimate. Where the final settlement of
costs and the related cost allocation is different from the initial estimates, any increase or decrease
in the development costs and other costs would affect the profit or loss in future years.

Financial risk management

The Group’s financial risk management policy seeks to ensure that adequate financial resources are
available for the development of the Group’s business whilst managing its risks. The main areas of
financial risks faced by the Group and the policy in respect of the major areas of treasury activity
are set out as follows:
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Foreign exchange risk

The Group has exposure to foreign exchange risk due to assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies. However, the Group does not hedge its exposures to foreign exchange risk as
the risk is not expected to be significant.

Credit risk

The maximum credit risk associated with recognized financial assets is the carrying amount shown
in the statement of financial position. However, policies had been established by the Group to
minimize such risks.

Market risk

The Group is not exposed to any market risk.

Liquidity and cash flow risks

The Group monitors and maintains a level of bank balances deemed adequate by the directors to
finance the operation and mitigate the effects of fluctuation in cash flow.

5.  Capital management

The Group’s objectives, when managing its capital, are to safeguard and maintain adequate working
capital to continue as a going concern.
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Intangible asset

Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) Software
Cost

Balance at 1 October 2021 11,495
Addition 1,007
Write Off (Note 20) 3,107)
Balance at 31 March 2022 9,395
Accumulated amortization and impairment losses

Balance at 1 October 2021 (9,749)
Amortisation (Note 20) (411)
Impairment loss =
Write Off (Note 20) 2,203
Balance at 31 March 2022 (7,957)
Net book value

At 31 March 2022 1,438
Cost

Balance at 1 October 2020 11,495
Addition —
Balance at 30 September 2021 11,495
Accumulated amortization and impairment losses

Balance at 1 October 2020 (8,399)
Amortisation (Note 20) (1,350)
Impairment loss -
Balance at 30 September 2021 (9,749)
Net book value

At 30 September 2021 1,746

Investment in associate

Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 31 March 2022 30 September 2021
Opening balance 40,547,919 37,941,370
Proportionate net profit for the period/year 1,945,559 2,581,204
Unrealised profit adjustment 4,610 25,345
Carrying value 42,498,088 40,547,919

The Company's share of profit in its equity-accounted investee (i.e, Myanmar Japan Thilawa
Development Limited) for the period was Kyats 1,945,559,484.54 (USD 1,094,240.43@ Kyats
1778) (30 September 2021: Profit Kyats 2,581,204,221.65 (USD 1,339,424.12@ Kyats 1927.1)).

The equity accounted investee is not publicly listed entity and consequentially does not have

published price quotations.
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The following amounts represent the assets and the liabilities and income and expenses of the

associate.

USD (In Thousands) 31 March 2022 30 September 2021
Owner-ship 41% 41%
Current assets 69,887 69,041
Non-current assets 18,778 19,492
Total assets 88,665 88,533
Current liabilities 79,492 9.521
Non-current liabilities 2,240 2,189
Total liabilities 81,732 11,710
Net assets 6,933 76,823
Income 5,215 13,465
Expenses (2,546) (10,198)
Profit 2,669 3,267
Share of profit 1,094 1,339

Other investment (MMK 10,000,000)

The above amount represents investment in Myanmar Kyauk Phyu SEZ Holding Consortium

Public Co., Ltd by the Company.

10.

Investment property

Land and
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) building
Cost
Balance at 1 October 2021 4,738,529
Transferred from inventories 249,197
Balance at 31 March 2022 4,987,726
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
Balance at 1 October 2021 (490,468)
Depreciation (Note 20) (62,488)
Impairment loss —
Balance at 31 March 2022 (552,956)
Unrealised profit adjustment (119,158)
Net book value
At 31 March 2022 4,315,612
Cost
Balance at 1 October 2020 5,487,548
Transferred to inventories (749,019)
Balance at 30 September 2021 4,738,529
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
Balance at 1 October 2020 (400,232)
Depreciation (Note 20) (128,911)
Transferred to inventories 38,675
Impairment loss &
Balance at 30 September 2021 (490,468)
Unrealised profit adjustment (118,968)
Net book value
At 30 September 2021 4,129,093
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The Company’s investment property at 31 March 2022 includes three buildings of workers
accommodation at recreational and commercial area of Thilawa SEZ. The Directors are of the view
that a fair value of the property cannot be ascertained at 31 March 2022. The opinion is based on
the following facts:

1. There is no such asset of this specification in Thilawa;

2. There is no history of such similar property transacted in Thilawa; and

3. No sales of any asset type have been recorded in the Thilawa SEZ.

As such, it is not possible for a valuation to be done on a willing-buyer/willing-seller basis. As
such, the market comparable approach cannot be adopted. To value the property using the income
capitalization approach, the property has to be given sufficient time for leasing, and stabilization of
that yield, for the capitalization rate to be applied. Since occupation permit was only quite recently
obtained, the rental process is only in the beginning stage. Hence, the income capitalization
approach cannot be adopted.

Given that the first two valuation methods cannot be applied, the third would be the cost approach.
This assumes that a reasonable buyer would have to pay equal or more than the cost of constructing
a comparable building. The cost approach is probably the most prudent in estimating the book/
reinstatement value of such an asset at 31 March 2022.

During the period from 1 October 2021 to 31 March 2022, one unit of shop house has been
transferred from inventory to investment property at its cost. The property held for rent in the
ordinary course of business.

As of 31 March 2022, the Company’s investment property includes:

1. Three buildings of workers accommodation
2. Two units of type A shop house facing main road

Details of the group’s investment properties and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 31
March 2022 are as follows:

Fair value as at

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 31 March 2022
Investment property
Workers accommodation - - 10,236,840 10,236,840
Unit A — Main road 450,000 - - 450,000

For unit A — Main road, the fair value was derived using the market comparable approach based on
recent market price of similar property with adjustment made for frontage.

For investment properties categorized into Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, the following
information is relevant:
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Investment Valuation Significant Sensitivity

property technique unobservable input(s)

Workers Income Capitalization rate Increase in the capitalization rate

accommodation capitalization used would result decrease in fair
approach value, and vice versa.

Occupancy rate Decrease in the occupancy rate
used would result decrease in fair
value, and vice versa.

Monthly rental Decrease in the monthly rental

used would result decrease in fair
value, and vice versa.

One unit of type A facing main road was transferred from Level 2 to Level 1 and there were no
other transfer during the period.

The fair value of investment properties is not based on valuation by an independent valuer.

The property rental income from the group’s investment properties all of which are leased out under
operating lease amounted to MMK 113,131 (thousand). Direct operating expenses (including

repairs and maintenance) arising from the rental — generating investment properties amounted to
MMK 77,269 (thousand).

11. Deferred tax
Deferred tax is calculated by applying income tax rate on deductible temporary difference, arrived
at upon deducting the carrying value from tax base amount of property, plant and equipment.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to
offset current income tax assets against current income tax liabilities and when the deferred income
taxes relate to the same fiscal authority. The amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are
shown on the financial position as follows:

Accelerated tax depreciation on

Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) property, plant and equipment
Balance at 1 October 2021 36,866
(Charge)/ credit to profit or loss (Note-23) 10,341
Balance at 31 March 2022 47,207
Balance at 1 October 2020 11,453
(Charge)/ credit to profit or loss (Note-23) 25,413
Balance at 30 September 2021 36,866

12. Net receivable under installment sales

The Company sold its shop houses under installment plan. Net present value of installment
payments to be received are recognized as revenue and receivable. The Company use interest rate
implicit in the contract as discount rate to measure the net present value. These properties are de-
recognized from the inventory and carrying amount is recognized under cost of sales. The selling
profit is the difference between revenue and cost of sales.
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The Company recognize the finance income and allocate over the installment term.

(a) Receivable under installment sales

Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 31 March 2022 30 September 2021
Gross receivable under installment sales 191,005 254,674
Less: Unearned finance income (4,923) (11,969)
186,082 242,705
_Less: current portion (Note 15)  (186,082) (201,170)
- 41,535

(b) Undiscounted installment payments to be received
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 31 March 2022 30 September 2021
Within one year 191,005 212,228
Second to third years — 42,446
191,005 254,674

13. Other assets
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 31 March 2022 30 September 2021
Logistics Dependent Industrial Area 86,706 86,706
Myit Kyi Nar Economic Development Zone 7,005 7,005
Gyo Gone Redevelopment Project 204,623 175,645
AGRO-Industrial Park 42,725 20,500
341,059 289,856
14. Cash and cash equivalents

Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 31 March 2022 30 September 2021
Cash in hand 75,477 63,035
Cash at bank 10,907,951 16,040,521
10,983,428 16,103,556
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Trade and other receivables

Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 31 March 2022 30 September 2021
Trade receivables from
- Related parties™ 322,040 332,267
- Non-related parties 69,131 52,140
Other receivable from non-related parties 6,112 7,534
Net receivable under installment sales (Note 12) 186,082 201,170
Accrued income from non-related parties 21,479 21,512
Deposit 218,387 219,054
Prepayments and advance 21,540 30,681
Advance income tax 280,207 30,207
Advance commercial tax 646,582 651,812
1,771,560 1,546,377

* It comprises management services fees receivable from Myanmar Japan Thilawa Development
Limited (MJID).

16. Inventories
Inventories include cost of leasehold land acquired from Myanmar Japan Thilawa Development
Limited (MJTD) for the development of residential and commercial area of Thilawa Special
Economic Zone. It also includes the cost of land scraping, infrastructure development, sixteen units
of shop houses and shop houses construction.
17. Issued and paid-up share capital
No. of ordinary shares Issued and fully paid-up
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) issued share capital
31 March 30 September 31 March 30 September
2022 2021 2022 2021
Beginning of financial period/year 38,929,150 38,929,150 38,929,150 38,929,150
Issued of shares - - - -
End of financial period/year 38,929,150 38,929,150 38,929,150 38,929,150
18. Trade and other payables

Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) , 31 March 2022 30 September 2021
Trade payables to non-related parties 22,582 26,208
Construction contract-due to supplier 120,397 120,417
Other payables to
- Related parties 6,811 91,764
- Non-related parties 257,833 159,009
Deposit from suppliers 8,138 13,697
Accrued expenses 86,399 217,007
Unpaid dividend 1,293,237 1,458,970
Deferred rental income
- Related parties - 213
- Non-related parties 29,870 17,538
Commercial tax 8,500 14,123
1,833,767 2,118,946
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19. Revenue

1 October 2021 to 1 October 2020 to

Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 31 March 2022 30 September 2021
Management fees 603,335 1,037,579
Sale of goods 2,498,980 -
Rental income 113,131 254,288
Sale of land - 1,370,200
Telecommunication 19,424 17,226
Utilities income 132,869 268,519

3,367,739 2,947,812

Management fees

Management fees are received from Myanmar Japan Thilawa Development Limited (MJTD) in
consideration of management services provided by the Company for the following personnel;
(1) Chairman

(2) Vice President (Myanmar Desk)

(3) Head of Finance & Accounting

(4) Head of Administration & Human Resources

(5) Head of Community Relationship

Sale of goods

The above represents the sale of beans to a local customer.

Rental income

The above comprises of rental of rooms in dormitory, food court and shop house.

Sale of land
The above comprises of sale of land to Max Energy Company Limited.
Telecommunication

The above represents the fixed element and revenue sharing variable element for granting access of
fiber optic cable to telecommunication service provider.

Utilities income

The above comprises of water, electricity and common area maintenance fees from the banks, shop
house, rented shops and food court.
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20.

Expenses by nature

1 October 2021 to

1 October 2020 to

Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 31 March 2022 30 September 2021
Land cost - 413,943
Cost of rental and dormitory 77,269 168,061
Utilities cost 87,949 186,016
Cost of management fee 81,788 —
Cost of inventories sold 2,451,450 -
Write off - property, plant and equipment (Note 6) 355 1,397
Write off — intangible asset (Note 7) 904 -
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 6) 121,690 262,003
Depreciation of investment property (Note 10) 62,488 128,911
Amortisation of intangible asset (Note 7) 411 1,350
Employee benefit expenses (Note 20-a) 255,586 586,307

Key management personnel and director compensations
(Note 25-b) 280,012 608,571
Selling, marketing and business development expenses 174 29,236
Rental expense - 13,010
Transportation expense 17,897 18,975
Listing expense 3,311 9,475
Other expense 186,928 366,584
Unrealised profit adjustment (6,529) (63,434)
3,621,683 2,730,405

20-a. Employee benefit expenses

1 October 2021 to 1 October 2020 to
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 31 March 2022 30 September 2021
Wages and salaries 226,096 488,453
Other benefits 29,490 97,854
255,586 586,307

21.

Other income

1 October 2021 to

1 October 2020 to

Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 31 March 2022 30 Scptember 2021
Interest income 135,156 61,887
Miscellaneous income 11,757 19,359
Finance income under lease 7,045 47,566

153,958 128,812

22.

Unrealised exchange (losses)/ gains

The above mainly include the foreign exchange (losses)/ gains arising from revaluation of US

Dollar cash balances at the end of reporting period/year.
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23.

Income tax expense

1 October 2021 to 1 October 2020 to

Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 31 March 2022 30 September 2021
Current tax expenses 41,562 202,974
Deferred income tax (Note 11) (10,341) (25,413)
31,221 177,561
24. KEarnings per share
Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial
period/ year.
1 October 2021 to 1 October 2020 to
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 31 March 2022 30 September 2021
Net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company
(Myanmar Kyat in thousands) 1,171,827 8,486,919
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
for basic earnings per share (shares in thousands) 38,929 38,929
Basic earnings per share 30 218
Per value of shares (Myanmar Kyat) 1,000 1,000
25. Related party transactions

In addition to the information disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the
following transactions took place between the holding company and the related parties at terms
agreed between the parties:

(a) Sales and purchase of goods and services

1 October 2021 to 1 October 2020 to

Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 31 March 2022 30 September 2021
Management fees from MITD 603,335 1,037,579
Rental revenue from MJTD — 420

Other related parties comprise mainly companies which are controlled or significantly influenced
by the holding company’s key management personnel which are as follows:

No. Company Name Related Position 1 October 1 October

Executives 2021 to 31 2021 to 30

March 2022  September 2021

Kyats *000 Kyats 000

1 CB Securities U Thaung Han Director 2,500 =

2  Shwe Me U Tun Lwin Director - 13,052

3 Yoma Fleet U Theim Wai  Vice Chairman - 1,250,000

4 Dagon International U Win Aung Chairman - 9,309
Limited

Outstanding balances of related parties are disclosed in Notes 15 and 18 respectively.
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(b) Key management personnel and director compensation

1 October 2021 to 1 October 2020 to

Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 31 March 2022 30 September 2021
Director remuneration , 36,000 70,000
Director bonus - 91,764
Key management personnel remuneration 234,216 406,102
Key management bonus 9,796 40,705

280,012 608,571

(c) Significant agreements with related parties
Management fees
The Company entered into management memorandums with MJTD for which to provide

management services. Under the term of these memorandums, the Company is entitled to receive
management fees as stipulated in the memorandum and will expire in January 2024,

26. Events occurring after the reporting date
Directors' Bonus and Dividends to the shareholders will be discussed prior to the upcoming Annual
General Meeting.

27.

Authorization of financial statements

The financial statements of the Company for the period ended 31 March 2022 were authorized for
issue on 10 June 2022,
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MTSH MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS PUBLIC CO. LTD.

Shwe Zabu River View Complex, 23G-1, No.3B, Tower (A), Penthouse-01 & 02, Strand Road, Ahlone Township,
Yangon, Myanmar, Tel: (+951) 2301731, Email: info@mtshmyanmar.com
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MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

Currency — Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands)
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MTSH MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS PUBLIC CO. LTD.

Shwe Zabu River View Complex, 23G-1, No.3B, Tower (A), Penthouse-01 & 02, Strand Road, Ahlone Township,
Yangon, Myanmar. Tel: (+951) 2301731, Email: info@mtshmyanmar.com

STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY
FOR MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED

It is the responsibility of the management to prepare the consolidated financial statements which give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public
Company Limited (the Company) and its subsidiary (the Group) as at 31 March 2023, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income of the Group, consolidated statement of changes in
equity of the Group, consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group for the vear then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes. In preparing these consolidated
financial statements, the management is required to:

—  Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; and
— Make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent.

The management is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the consolidated financial position of the Group. We have general responsibility for
taking such steps as are reasonably open to us to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and
detect fraud and other irregularities.

On behalf of Management

WIN AUNG

Chairman

MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS PUBLIC CQ., LTD.
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9 May 2023
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0808 §¢38,0880005
‘, WIN THIN & ASSOCIATES LTD

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

Room (2B/2C) 1* Floor, Rose Condominium, No. 182/194, Botahtaung Pagoda Road, Pazundaung Township,
Yangon Region, Myanmar. Tel: 95-1-8201798, 8296164, Fax: 95-1-8245671 Email: info@winthinassociates.com

Ref: 37/ M-255/ March 2023
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Members of Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public Company Limited
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public
Company Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiary (“the Group”), which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023, and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2023, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and the provisions of the Myanmar Companies Law.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code), together
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Myanmar, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters

Investment in associate

Refer to Note 2.5 and 8 of the consolidated financial Our audit procedures to assess the carrying value

statements. of the investment in associate, amongst other,
included the following:

Investment in associate from MITD was Kyats

45,043,553,118.26 as at 31 March 2023. This Communicated with the component auditor to

ANNUAL REPORT | 131



132

carrying amounts represented 48% of Group's total
assets as at 31 March 2023 which was most
significance to the Group’s financial position and
there was a heightened risk that the component
auditor may have failed to detect misstatements. We
considered this as a key audit matter.

Investment properties
Refer to Note 2.6 and 10 of the consolidated
financial statements.

Investment properties, being held for capital
appreciation and/or yields, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses.

Carrying value of Group’s investment properties as
rymg prop

ANNUAL REPORT

obtain an understanding of the nature, scope, and
timing of the audit procedures performed by the
component auditor which include an understanding
of the component auditor's assessment of the
associate's risks, significant accounting policies,
and key audit matters.

Reviewed the component auditor's work papers to
assess the quality of the audit work performed by
the component auditor.

Reviewed the component auditor's report to ensure
that it is consistent with the Group auditor's
understanding of the component's financial
information.

Performed discussion with the component auditor
regarding the susceptibility of the component to
material misstatement of the financial information
due to fraud and error, and reviewed the
component auditor’s documentation of identified
significant risks of material misstatement of the
Group’s financial statements.

Communicated with the component auditor on a
timely basis for its requirements (work to be
performed, the use to be made of that work, and the
form and content of the component auditor’s
communication with the Group engagement team).

Evaluated the audit evidence obtained from the
component auditor and any additional audit
procedures performed by the Group auditor to form
an opinion on the component's financial
information.

Evaluated the component’s financial statements to
determine whether there were any material
misstatements that could have a significant impact
on the Group's consolidated financial statements.

Considered the adequacy of related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements in terms of
applicable accounting standards.

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of
carrying value of the investment properties,
amongst other, included the following:

Evaluated the assumption and judgment adopted by
management relating to growth rate and discounted
rate used to derived the recoverable amount of the
investment properties,



at 31 March 2023 was Kyats 3,954,338,850.96. As
at 31 March 2023, management conducted
impairment test to assess the recoverability of the
carrying value of the investment properties.

This was performed using discounted cash flows
model to calculation the value in use. A number of
key judgments were made in determining the input
into the discounted cash flows model which includes
expected future cash flows, growth rate and discount
rate applied to the cash flows.

We identify the assessing the carrying value of
investment properties as key audit matter because of
its significance to the consolidated financial
statements and because assessing impairment
assumption involve a key management assumption
involved in significance degree of management
judgment which may affect both the carrying value
of Group’s investment properties as well as any
impairment charged for the year and may be subject
to management bias.

Unrealised exchange gains
Refer to Note 2.3-(2) and 22 of the consolidated
financial statements.

Unrealised exchange gains mainly arising from
revaluation of United States Dollars cash and bank
balances at the end of reporting year.

The amount of unrealised exchange gains was Kyats
1,701,517,660.54 as at 31 March 2023. This amount
represented 37% of net profit for the year ended 31
March 2023.

We identify the amount of unrealised exchange
gains as a key audit matter because this amount is
material and could have a most significant impact on
the consolidated financial statements.

Considered the possibility of error or management
bias.

Considered whether the disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of the
impairment assessment reflected the risk inherent
in the key assumptions which reference to the
requirement of the relevant accounting standards.

Our audit procedures to assess the unrealised
exchange gains, amongst other, included the
following:

Assessed the appropriateness of the Group’s
accounting policies for the initial recognition and
reporting at the ends of subsequent reporting
periods for foreign currency transactions, in line
with the requirements of IAS 21.

Confirmed the cash and bank balances
denominated in foreign currencies were translated
at the appropriate Group’s closing rates.

Considered the adequacy of related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements in terms of
applicable accounting standards.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated

Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRSs and the provisions of the Myanmar Companies Law, and for such
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidate financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

« Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

» Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

* Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

* Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However. future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

« Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

« Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We alsa provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken
to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that

were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current year and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation

ANNUAL REPORT



precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with the provisions of Myanmar Companies Law, we also report that:

(i) we have obtained all the information and explanations we have required and

(i) financial records have been maintained by the Company and its subsidiary as required by
Section 258 of the Law.

99§

Saw Nelson (PAPP-400)
Engagement Partner

Win Thin & Associates Ltd
Certified Public Accountants
Firm Registration No. ACC 008

o & Asg,
«“‘ - %,
AUDiTORS

9 May 2023
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MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS PUBLIC COMPANY

LIMITED AND ITS SUBS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 MARCH 2023
Currency — Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands)

Note 2023
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 6 3,157,606 3,363,717
Intangible asset 7 842 1,438
Investment in associate 8 45,043,553 42,498,088
Other investment 9 10,000 10,000
Investment properties 10 3,954,339 4,315,612
Deferred tax assets 11 44,486 47,207
Net receivable under installment sales 12 426,133 -
Other assets 13 342,891 341,059
52,979,850 50,577,121
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 14 12,954,628 10,983,428
Trade and other receivables 15 1,683,548 1,771,560
Inventories 16 25,945,726 26,377,365
40,583,902 39,132,353
93,563,752 89,709,474
Equity and liabilities
Equity
Issued and paid-up share capital 17 38,929,150 38,929,150
Retained profits 44,061,874 39,663,611
82,991,024 78,592,761
Non-controlling interest 7,712,738 7,806,009
90,703,762 86,398,770
Non-current liabilities
Advance from customers 730,120 1,232,402
730,120 1,232,402
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 18 2,070,417 1,833,767
Current tax liability 59,453 244 535
2,129,870 2,078,302
93,563,752 89,709,474

The notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
Authenticated by:
WIN AUNG TUN LWIN

Chairman, MTSH Vice-Chairman MTSH
MTSH=Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public Co., Ltd.

o e

G e

MYINT ZAW YU WAR TUN
Managing Director, MTSH  Chief Financial Officer, MTSH
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MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
Currency — Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands)

Note 2023 2022
(12 months) (6 months)

Revenue 19 3,162,807 3,367,739
Cost of sales 20 (1,481,649) (2,811,618)
Gross profit 1,681,158 556,121
Other income 21 101,302 153,958
Realised exchange gains 456,946 109,321
Unrealised exchange gains/ (losses) 22 1,701,517 (839,479)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (103) =
Selling, marketing and business development
expenses 20 (19,080) (174)
Administrative expenses 20 (1,791,003) (809,891)
Profit/ (loss) for the year/ period 2,130,737 (830,144)
Share of profit of associate 8 2,537,276 1,945,559
Profit before tax 4,668,013 1,115,415
Income tax expense 23 (63,021) (31,221)
Net profit for the year/ period 4,604,992 1,084,194
Other comprehensive income for the year/ period - —
Total comprehensive income for the year/ period 4,604,992 1,084,194
Profit attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 4,398,263 1,171,827
Non-controlling interests 206,729 (87.633)
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 4,398,263 1,171,827
Non-controlling interests 206,729 (87.633)
Earnings per share (K per share)
Basic earnings per share 24 113 30

The notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
Currency — Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands)

Note 2023 2022
(12 months) (6 months)
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax 4,668,013 1,115,415
Adjustment for non-cash items:
Depreciation 348,155 184,178
Amortisation 596 411
Write-off 736 1,259
Loss on disposal 103 -
Unrealised profit adjustment (18,342) (6.529)
Share of profit of associate (2,537,276) (1,945,559)
Operating profit/ (loss) before working capital changes 2,461,985 (650.825)
Changes in working capital
Trade and other receivables (528,764) 66,351
Inventories 679,348 (42,032)
Trade and other payables 236,650 (285,179)
Advance from customers (502,282) (2.822)
2,346,937 (914,507)
Income tax paid (54,739) (250,000)
Net eash provided by/ (used in) operating activities 2,292,198 (1,164.507)
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (21,140) (10,496)
Purchase of intangible asset - (1,007)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 1,974 -
Other assets (1,832) (51,203)
Net cash used in investing activities (20,998) (62.706)
Cash flows from financing activities
Dividend paid to shareholders (300,000) (3,892,915)
Net cash used in financing activities (300,000) (3,892.9153)
Net increase/ (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,971,200 (5,120.128)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year/ period 10,983,428 16,103,556
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year/ period 14 12,954,628 10,983,428

The notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

1.

General information

Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public Company Limited (the Company) was incorporated in the
Republic of the Union of Myanmar on 3 May 2013 under the Myanmar Companies Act. The Act
has been replaced by the Myanmar Companies Law 2017. As such, the Company has been re-
registered and issued Company Registration No. 151830293 according to the new Law.

On 26 May 2013, pursuant to the Cooperation Memorandum, the Company signed a Memorandum
of Understanding with MMST LLP (MMS Thilawa Limited Liability Partnership) for the purpose
of establishing the Joint Venture Company for the development, marketing, sales and operation of
the Class A Project.

On 29 October 2013, pursuant to the Memorandum of Understanding mentioned above, the
Company, the Thilawa SMC (Thilawa SEZ Management Committee) and MMSTD (MMS Thilawa
Development Co., Ltd) entered into the Joint Venture Agreement in connection with the
establishment of the JV Company to undertake the development, construction, marketing, sales and
operation of the Class A project. The Joint Venture Company was established as Myanmar Japan
Thilawa Development Ltd. (MJTD).

Under the Joint Venture Agreement, subject to the satisfaction of certain prescribed conditions
precedent, the Company will collectively subscribe for JV Company Shares of an initial aggregate
amount of US$50,000,000 in the proportions of 41%.

The principle business activities of the Company are to:

e investin and participate in the management of the JV Company, which will engage in the
development, construction, marketing, sales and operation of the Class A Project;

e market and sell the Class A Properties to Myanmar Related Entities as exclusive agent,
and market and sell the Class A Properties to parties which are not Myanmar Related
Entities or Japanese Related Entities jointly with the Japanese consortium members; and

¢  engage in the development of Thilawa SEZ (other than the Class A Area) or any part
thereof as may be determined by our Directors in their discretion.

For additional information about the Company, please refer to the Company’s Prospectus dated 27
February 2014.

The registered office of the Company is Shwe Zabu River View Complex 23G-1, No. 3B, Tower
(A), Penthouse - 01 & 02, Strand Road, Ahlone Township, Yangon Region, Myanmar.

The Company is listed in Yangon Stock Exchange on 20 May 2016.
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2.2

Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). Up to the period ended 31
March 2022, the Group prepared its consolidated financial statements in accordance with Myanmar
Financial Reporting Standards (MFRSs). The accounting policies applied in these consolidated
financial statements are consistent with those used in the previous consolidated financial
statements, with no differences arising due to the adoption of IFRS. Consequently, there is no
impact of the transition to IFRSs on the financial position, financial performance, or cash flows of
the Group, and no opening statement of consolidated financial position was prepared. However, the
certain reclassifications and rearrangements have been made in comparative consolidated financial
statements to conform to the classification used in cutrent consolidated financial statements.

Change in reporting period

During the former financial period ended 31 March 2022, the Group changed its financial year end
from September to March. Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements presented are as at
and for the twelve months ended 31 March 2023 (i.e current financial year end) and the six months
ended 31 March 2022 (i.e former financial period end). As a result, the comparative figures
presented in consolidated statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows
and the related notes are not comparable.

The change in financial year was due to change of financial year enacted by the government.
Foreign currency translation

(1)  Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the consolidated financial statements of the Group are measured using the
currency of primary economic environment in which the Group operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Myanmar Kyat, which is the
presentation currency as well as functional currency of the Group. All amounts have been rounded
to the nearest thousands, unless otherwise indicated.

(2) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the

seftlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement.
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2.5

Group Accounting
(a) Subsidiaries
Consolidation

Subsidiaries are entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has power to
govern the financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from its activities, generally
accompanied by a shareholding giving rise to a majority of the voting rights. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when
assessing whether the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date on which control
ceases.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, transactions, balances and recognised gains on
transactions between Group entities are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated but are
considered an impairment indicator of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries
have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests are that part of the net results of operations and of net assets of a
subsidiary attributable to the interests which are not owned directly or indirectly by the equity
holders of the Group. They are shown separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, statement of changes in equity and statement of financial position, Total comprehensive
income is attributed to the non-controlling interests based on their respective interests in a
subsidiary, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

(b)  Associated companies

Associated companies are entities over which the Group has significant influence, but not control,
generally accompanied by a shareholding giving rise to voting rights of 20% and above but not
exceeding 50%. Investments in associated companies are accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements using the equity method of accounting less impairment losses.

(¢) Equity method of accounting

In applying the equity method of accounting, the Group’s share of its associated companies” post-
acquisition profits or losses are recognised in profit or loss and its share of post-acquisition other
comprehensive income is recognised in other comprehensive income. These post-acquisition
movements and distributions received from the associated companies are adjusted against the
carrying amount of the investments. When the Group’s share of losses in an associated company
equals to or exceeds its interest in the associated company, including any other unsecured non-
current receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has obligations to make or
has made payments on behalf of the associated company.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associated companies are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s interest in the associated companies. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transactions provide evidence of impairment of the assets transferred. The accounting
policies of associated companies have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
accounting policies adopted by the Group.

Investment in associate

Investment in associate is initially recognised at the transaction price (including transaction costs)
under the equity method of accounting and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to
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2.7

recognise the investor’s share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition. The
investor’s share of the profit or loss of the investee is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss.
Distributions received from an investee reduce the carrying amount of the investment.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rental and/or capital appreciation (or both).
Investment properties are initially recognised at cost and subsequently carried at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is calculated using a
straight-line method to allocate the depreciable amounts over the estimated useful lives of fifty
years or the balance of land use right.

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method of investment properties are reviewed,
and adjusted as appropriate, at each consolidated statement of financial position date. The effects of
any revision are included in profit or loss when the changes arise.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is de-recognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the profit or loss
during the year in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on assets under construction commences when the assets are ready for their intended
use. Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment less
their estimated residuals values using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives.
The estimated depreciation rates are as follows:

Leasehold land 2.19%
Plant 5%
Transformers 2.17%
Building 2%-2.17%
Waste storage house 5%
Machinery and equipment 20%
Motor vehicle 20%
Computer equipment 20%
Furniture and equipment 10% - 40%
Office renovation 5% - 20%

The residual values and useful lives of assets are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
the reporting year. The effects of any revision are recognised in profit or loss when the changes
arise.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount

and are recognised within ‘other gains/ (losses) — net” in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
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Intangible assets
Accounting and payroll software

Accounting and payroll software license is initially capitalised at cost which includes the purchase
prices (net of any discounts and rebates) and other directly attributable costs of preparing the asset
for its intended use. Direct expenditures are added to the original cost of the software. Costs
associated with maintaining the accounting software license are expensed off when incurred.

Computer software license is subsequently carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses. These costs are amortised to profit or loss using the straight-line
method over their estimated useful lives of five years equivalent to 20%.

The amortisation year and amortisation method of intangible assets are reviewed at least at each
statement of financial position date. The effects of any revision are recognised in profit or loss
when the changes arise.

Construction contracts

When the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue and
contract costs are recognised as revenue and expenses respectively by reference to the stage of
completion of the contract activity at the consolidated statement of financial position date
(“percentage-of-completion method”). When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be
estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the extent of contract costs incurred that are
likely to be recoverable. When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract
revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments are included in contract revenue when it
is probable that the customer will approve the variation or negotiations have reached an advanced
stage such that it is probable that the customer will accept the claim and they are capable of being
reliably measured.

The stage of completion is measured by reference to the proportion of contract costs incurred to
date to the estimated total costs for the contract. Costs incurred during the financial year in
connection with future activity on a contract are excluded from the costs incurred to date when
determining the stage of completion of a contract. Such costs are shown as construction contract
work-in-progress on the consolidated statement of financial position unless it is not probable that
such contract costs are recoverable from the customers, in which case, such costs are recognised as
an expense immediately.

At the consolidated statement of financial position, the cumulative costs incurred plus recognised
profits (less recognised losses) on each contract is compared against the progress billings. Where
the cumulative costs incurred plus the recognised profits (less recognised losses) exceed progress
billings, the balance is presented as due from customers on construction contracts within “trade and
other receivables”. Where progress billings exceed the cumulative costs incurred plus recognised
profits (less recognised losses), the balance is presented as due to customers on construction
contracts within “trade and other payables™.

Progress billings not yet paid by customers and retentions by customers are included within “trade
and other receivables”. Advances received are included within “trade and other payables™.
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Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost comprises cost of land
scraping cost, infrastructure development cost, direct labour and other direct cost. Net realisable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of
completion and applicable variable selling expenses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and deposits with various local banks.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially measured at fair value, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. Trade and other
receivables are reduced by appropriate allowance for estimated irrecoverable amount.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Issued and paid-up share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
ordinary shares are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

Dividends

Dividends to the Group’s sharcholders are recognised when the dividends are approved for
payment.

Employee benefits

Employee benefits are all forms of consideration given by an entity in exchange for service
rendered by employees. Employee benefits are recognised as payable in the year in which the
benefits is earned by employee. Past-service costs are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events; it is a probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligations;
and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating
losses.

Revenue

Revenue is recognised only when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
transaction will flow to the Group. Revenue is shown net of sales (after deducting commercial tax)

(a) Rendering of services

Revenue for rendering services is recognised over time as the services are provided. The related
costs are recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss and comprehensive income when
they are incurred.
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(b) Sale of goods

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered and title has passed to the
customer.

(¢) Interest income

Interest income arising from deposit at financial institution is recognised when the effective interest
method.

(d) Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

(¢) Rental income
Rental income is recognised when earned on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current year are measured at the amount expected to
be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The current income tax is calculated on the
basic of the tax rate and tax law enacted or substantially enacted at the end of the reporting year.
Current income tax is recognised in profit or loss.

Deferred tax is recognised on the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when
the liability is settled or the asset realised based on the tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting year. Deferred tax is recognised as an expense or
income in profit or loss, except when they relate to items credited or debited outside profit or loss
(either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity), in which case the tax is also
recognised outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively).

Significant accounting judgments and estimates

The preparation of the Group's financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and
the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

Estimate and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revision to accounting
estimates are recognised in the year in which the estimates are revised and in any future year
affected.

Infrastructure development costs

Infrastructure development costs of land are recorded as inventories during the construction stage
and an apportionment of these costs will be recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income upon the recognition of the revenue of the land under development.

These infrastructure costs comprise of awarded contracts and an estimation of future ones. The total
costs were estimated by a third-party professional Quantity Surveyor and periodically re-validated
internally,
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Before the final settlement of the development costs and other costs relating to the land under
development, these costs are based on management’s best estimate. Where the final settlement of
costs and the related cost allocation is different from the initial estimates, any increase or decrease
in the development costs and other costs would affect the profit or loss in future years.

Finanecial instruments and financial risks
Overview

The main areas of financial risks faced by the Group and the policy in respect of the major areas of
treasury activity are set out as follows:

*  Foreign exchange risk

= Credit risk

= Market risk

*  Liquidity and cash flows risk

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk due to assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies, There is a significant financial risk arising from the fluctuation of foreign exchange rate,

which accounted for the highest proportion of the Group’s realised exchange gains/ (losses)
transaction in the income statement.

The Group’s exposures to foreign currency risk based on notional amount as follows:

Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 2023 2022
Cash and cash equivalents 13,510,989 9,568,633
Trade and other receivables 28,004 18,669
Trade and other payables (73,078) (154,032)
Net financial assets 13,465,915 9,433,270

Foreign currency sensitivity

The following analysis details the sensitivity to a 10% increase/ decrease in the Myanmar Kyat
against the relevant foreign currencies. 10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign
currency risk exposures internally to key management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the possible change in foreign exchange rates, which is the change in foreign
exchange rate that management deems reasonably possible which will affect outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items at year end. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the year-
end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates.

If the United States Dollars were to strengthen by 10% against the functional currency, profit before
tax for the year/ period will be increased by:

Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) Profit before tax
31 March 2023
USD 10% strengthening 864,915
31 March 2022
USD 10% strengthening 785,532

ANNUAL REPORT

147



148

If the United States Dollars were to weaken by 10% against the functional currency, there will be
opposite impact on profit before tax for the year/ period.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group and
Group’s receivables from third party customers. The internal audit group always reviews on the
current consolidated financial statements on this aspect of credit risk.

Trade receivables

The Group has a credit policy in place which establishes credit limits for customers and
management monitors their balances on an ongoing basis. Credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit, taking into account their credit worthiness and past payment experience
with the Group.

Summarize below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s trade
receivables.

31 March 2023  Current 1-30days  31-90 days 91-180 days More than 180 Total
past due past due pastdue  days past due
Myanmar Kyat (In thousands)
Carrying
amount 678 471,089 43,723 45,606 30,717 591,813
31 March 2022 Current 1-30days  31-90 days 91-180 days More than 180 Total
past due past due pastdue  days past due
Myanmar Kyat (In thousands)
Carrying
amount 322,334 56,058 33,615 36,274 27,781 476,062
Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices and the uncertainty of the value of the property.
The objective of the market risk management is to manage and control market exposures within
acceptable parameters, while optimizing the returns.

The Group’s investment properties and land are located in Thilawa Special Economic Zone, from
which a substantial amount of the Group’s revenue is derived. The challenging and highly
downward trend of investment properties market condition in Myanmar affected the Group’s
property rental performance and financial condition in the year. The default risk of tenants and the
risk of tenants’ relocation were also inevitably higher under unstable economic outlook and also
had an adverse impact on the revenue and results of the Group. However, the Group had
proactively reviewed and taken mitigation action to reduce the impact on its property leasing
business arising from the risks mentioned above, by maintaining a good quality of tenant mix,
offering a competitive rental package for tenants’ retention, improved property management
services and refining its business strategies. These proactive and responsive measures enable our
group to benefit from mitigating the impact resulting from the risks mentioned above.

Liquidity and cash flows risk

Liquidity risk is the risk of incurring losses resulting from the inability to meet payment obligations
in a timely manner when they become due or from being unable to do so at a sustainable cost.
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The Group monitors the liquidity risk through conscious financial planning and analysis and by
forecasting cash flows regularly, monitoring and optimizing net working capital and ability of the
Group to meet its financial obligations. The Group maintains sufficient cash and cash equivalents,
and internally generated cash flows to finance their activities.

Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. Expansions of new projects are
analytically screened by possibility studies including financial projection with discounted cash
flows method.
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Intangible asset

Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) Software
Cost

At 1 October 2021 11,495
Addition 1,007
Write off (Note 20) (3,107)
At 31 March 2022 9.395
At 1 April 2022 9,395
Addition -
At 31 March 2023 9,395
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses

At 1 October 2021 (9.749)
Amortisation (Note 20) (411)
Write off (Note 20) 2,203
Impairment loss -
At 31 March 2022 (7,957)
At 1 April 2022 (7,957)
Amortisation (Note 20) (596)
Impairment loss -
At 31 March 2023 (8,553)
Net book value

At 1 October 2021 1,746
At 31 March 2022 1,438
At 31 March 2023 842
Investment in associate

Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 2023 2022
Opening balance 42,498,088 40,547,919
Proportionate net profit for the year/ period 2,537,276 1,945,559
Unrealised profit adjustment 8,189 4,610
Carrying value 45,043,553 42,498,088

The Group’s share of profit in its equity-accounted investee (i.e, Myanmar Japan Thilawa
Development Limited) for the year was Kyats 2,537,276,847.00 (USD 1,208,227.07 @ Kyats
2.100) (31 March 2022: Profit Kyats 1,945,559,484.54 (USD 1,094,240.43@ Kyats 1,778). The
equity accounted investee is not publicly listed entity and consequentially does not have published

price quotations.
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The following amounts represent the assets and the liabilities and income and expenses of the

associate.

USD (In Thousands) 2023 2022
Owner-ship 41% 41%
Current assets 73,391 69,887
Non-current assets 18,019 18,778
Total assets 91,410 88,665
Current liabilities 7,006 6,933
Non-current liabilities 1,965 2,240
Total liabilities 8,971 9,173
Net assets 82,439 79,492
Income 9,573 3215
Expenses (6,6206) (2,546)
Profit 2,947 2,669
Share of profit 1,208 1,094

9, Other investment (MMK 10,000,000)

The above amount represents investment in Myanmar Kyauk Phyu SEZ Holding Consortium
Public Co., Ltd by the Group.

10. Investment properties

Land and
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) building
Cost
At 1 October 2021 4,738,529
Transferred from inventories 249,197
At 31 March 2022 4,987,726
At 1 April 2022 4,987,726
Transferred to inventories (246,392)
At 31 March 2023 4,741,334
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
At 1 October 2021 (490,468)
Depreciation (Note 20) (62,488)
Impairment loss -
At 31 March 2022 (552,956)
At 1 April 2022 (552,956)
Depreciation (Note 20) (123,717)
Transferred to inventories 2,951
Impairment loss -
At 31 March 2023 (673,722)
Unrealised profit adjustment
At 1 October 2021 (118,968)
At 31 March 2022 (119,158)
At 31 March 2023 (113,273)
Net book value
At 1 October 2021 4,129,093
At 31 March 2022 4,315,612
At 31 March 2023 3,954,339
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The Group’s investment properties at 31 March 2023 includes three buildings of workers
accommodation at recreational and commercial area of Thilawa SEZ. The Directors are of the view
that a fair value of the property cannot be ascertained at 31 March 2023. The opinion is based on
the following facts:

1. There is no such asset of this specification in Thilawa;

2. There is no history of such similar property transacted in Thilawa; and

a3

3. No sales of any asset type have been recorded in the Thilawa SEZ.

As such, it is not possible for a valuation to be done on a willing-buyer/willing-seller basis. As
such, the market comparable approach cannot be adopted. To value the property using the income
capitalisation approach, the property has to be given sufficient time for leasing, and stabilisation of
that yield, for the capitalisation rate to be applied. Since occupation permit was only quite recently
obtained, the rental process is only in the beginning stage. Hence, the income capitalisation
approach cannot be adopted.

Given that the first two valuation methods cannot be applied, the third would be the cost approach.
This assumes that a reasonable buyer would have to pay equal or more than the cost of constructing
a comparable building. The cost approach is probably the most prudent in estimating the book/
reinstatement value of such an asset at 31 March 2023.

During the year from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023, one unit of shop house has been transferred
from investment properties to inventories at its net book value. The property held for rent in the
ordinary course of business,

As of 31 March 2023, the Group’s investment properties include:

1. Three buildings of workers accommodation
2. One unit of type A shop house facing main road

Details of the Group’s investment properties and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 31
March 2023 are as follows:

Fair value as at

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 31 March 2023
Investment properties
Workers accommodation = - 5,204,428 5,204,428
Unit A — Main road 450,000 ~ - 450,000

For unit A — Main road, the fair value was derived using the market comparable approach based on
recent market price of similar property with adjustment made for frontage.

For investment properties categorised into Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, the following
information is relevant:

Investment Valuation Significant Sensitivity
properties technique unobservable input(s)
Workers Income Capitalisation rate Increase in the capitalisation rate
accommodation capitalisation used would result decrease in fair
approach value, and vice versa.
Occupancy rate Decrease in the occupancy rate

used would result decrease in fair
value, and vice versa,

Monthly rental Decrease in the monthly rental
used would result decrease in fair
value, and vice versa.
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One unit of type A facing main road was transferred from Level 2 to Level 1 and there were no
other transfer during the year.

The fair value of investment properties is not based on valuation by an independent valuer.

The property rental income from the Group’s investment properties all of which are leased out
under operating lease amounted to Kyat 201,289 (In Thousands). Direct operating expenses
(including repairs and maintenance) arising from the rental — generating investment properties
amounted to Kyat 156,071 (In Thousands).

11. Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax is calculated by applying income tax rate on deductible temporary difference, arrived
at upon deducting the carrying value from tax base amount of property, plant and equipment and
investment properties.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to
offset current income tax assets against current income tax liabilities and when the deferred income
taxes relate to the same fiscal authority. The amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are
shown on the financial position as follows:
Accelerated tax Accelerated tax Total
depreciation on property, depreciation on
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) plant and equipment investment properties
Balance at 1 April 2022 20,812 26,395 47,207
(Charge)/ credit to profit or loss (Note 23) (6,032) 3,311 (2,721)
Balance at 31 March 2023 14,780 29,706 44,486
Balance at 1 October 2021 14,884 21,982 36,866
(Charge)/ credit to profit or loss (Note 23) 5,928 4,413 10,341
Balance at 31 March 2022 20,812 26,395 47,207
12. Net receivable under installment sales

The Group sold its shop houses under installment plan during the year ended 31 March 2023. Net
present value of installment payments to be received are recognised as revenue and receivable. The
Group use interest rate implicit in the contract as discount rate to measure the net present value.
These properties are de-recognised from the inventory and carrying amount is recognised under
cost of sales. The selling profit is the difference between revenue and cost of sales.

The Group recognise the finance income and allocate over the installment term.

(a) Profit from installment sales

2023 2022
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) (12 months) (6 months)
Profit 470,988 -
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(b) Receivable under installment sales

Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 2023 2022
Gross receivable under installment sales 694,687 191,005
Less: Unearned finance income (45,246) (4,923)
649,441 186,082
Less: current portion (Note 15) (223,308) (186,082)
426,133 -
(¢) Undiscounted installment payments to be received
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 2023 2022
Within one year 242,259 191,005
Second to fifth years 452,428 -
694,687 191,005
13. Other assets
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 2023 2022
Logistics Dependent Industrial Area 86,706 86,706
Myit Kyi Nar Economic Development Zone - 7.005
Gyo Gone Redevelopment Project 213,460 204,623
AGRO-Industrial Park 42,725 42,725
342,891 341,059
14. Cash and cash equivalents
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 2023 2022
Cash in hand 20,159 75,477
Cash at bank 12,934,469 10,907,951
12,954,628 10,983,428
15. Trade and other receivables
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 2023 2022
Trade receivables from
- Related parties* 421,629 322,040
- Non-related parties 70,797 69,131
Other receivable from non-related parties 19,425 6,112
Net receivable under installment sales (Naote 12) 223,308 186,082
Accrued income from non-related parties 20,225 21,479
Deposit 219,090 218,387
Prepayments and advance 18,427 21,540
Advance income tax 89,498 280,207
Advance commercial tax 601,149 646,582
1,683,548 1,771,560

* It comprises management services fees receivable from Myanmar Japan Thilawa Development

Limited (MJTD).
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16.

Inventories

[nventories include cost of leasehold land acquired from Myanmar Japan Thilawa Development
Limited (MJTD) for the development of residential and commercial area of Thilawa Special
Economic Zone. It also includes the cost of land scraping, infrastructure development, fourteen
units of shop houses and shop houses construction.

17.  Issued and paid-up share capital
No. of ordinary shares Issued and fully paid-up
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) issued share capital
2023 2022 2023 2022
Beginning of financial year/ period 38,929,150 38,929,150 38,929,150 38,929,150
Issued of shares - - - -
End of financial year/ period 38,929,150 38,929,150 38,929,150 38,929,150
18. Trade and other payables
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 2023 2022
Trade payables to non-related parties 25,721 22,582
Construction contract-due to supplier 2,580 120,397
Other payables to
- Related parties 73,305 6,811
- Non-related parties 455,647 257,833
Deposit from suppliers 8,138 8,138
Accrued expenses 125,905 86,399
Unpaid dividend 1,317,939 1,293,237
Deferred rental income to non-related parties 34,113 29,870
Commercial tax 27,069 8,500
2,070,417 1,833,767
19. Revenue
2023 2022
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) (12 months) (6 months)
Management fees 1,458,441 603,335
Sale of goods — 2,498,980
Sale of building 1,214,022 -
Rental income 201,289 113,131
Telecommunication 24,989 19,424
Utilities income 264,066 132,869
3,162,807 3,367,739

Management fees

Management fees are received from Myanmar Japan Thilawa Development Limited (MJTD) in
consideration of management services provided by the Company for the following personnel;

(1) Chairman
(2) Vice President (Myanmar Desk)
(3) Head of Finance & Accounting

(4) Head of Administration & Human Resources

(5) Head of Community Relationship
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Sale of goods

The above represents the sale of beans to a local customer.

Sale of building

The above represents the sale of building to U Han Soe Kyaw and Myanmar Kinan Co., Ltd.

Rental income

The above comprises of rental of billboard and rooms in dormitory, food court and shop house.

Telecommunication

The above represents the fixed element and revenue sharing variable element for granting access of

fiber optic cable to telecommunication service provider.

Utilities income

The above comprises of water, electricity and common area maintenance fees from the banks, shop

house, rented shops and food court.

20.

Expenses by nature

2023 2022
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) (12 months) (6 months)
Construction contract cost (44,382) =
Cost of rental and dormitory 156,071 77,269
Building cost — shop house 775,557 =
Utilities cost 181,764 87,949
Cost of management fee 203,750 81,788
Cost of inventories sold = 2,451,450
Write off — property, plant and equipment (Note 6) 736 355
Write off — intangible asset (Note 7) - 904
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 6) 224,438 121,690
Depreciation of investment properties (Note 10) 123,717 62,488
Amortisation of intangible asset (Note 7) 596 411
Employee benefit expenses (Note 20-a) 574,683 255,586
Key management personnel and director compensations
(Note 25-c) 786,061 280,012
Selling, marketing and business development expenses 19,080 174
Transportation expense 54,640 17,897
Listing expense 7,334 3311
Other expense 246,029 186,928
Unrealised profit adjustment (18,342) (6,529)
3,291,732 3,621,683
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20-a. Employee benefit expenses

2023 2022
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) (12 months) (6 months)
Wages and salaries 414,375 226,096
Other benefits 160,308 29,490
574,683 255,586
21.  Other income
2023 2022
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) (12 months) (6 months)
Interest income 09,381 135,156
Miscellaneous income 7,302 11,757
Finance income under lease 24,619 7,045
101,302 153,958
22. Unrealised exchange gains/ (losses)
The above mainly include the foreign exchange gains/ (losses) arising from revaluation of United
States Dollars cash balances at the end of reporting year/ period.
23. Income tax expense
2023 2022
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) (12 months) (6 months)
Current tax on profit for the year/ period 59,453 41,562
Adjustments in respect of prior period 847 =
Deferred income tax (Note 11) 2,721 (10,341)
63,021 31,221
24. Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to equity holders of the
Group by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year/

period.

2023

Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) (12 months)

2022
(6 months)

Net profit attributable to equity holders of the Group

(Myanmar Kyat in thousands) 4,398,263 1,171,827
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding

for basic earnings per share (shares in thousands) 38,929 38,929
Basic earnings per share 113 30
Per value of shares (Myanmar Kyat) 1,000 1,000
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Related party transactions
In addition to the information disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the
following transactions took place between the holding company and the related parties at terms

agreed between the parties:

(a) Sales and purchase of goods and services

2023 2022
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) (12 months) (6 months)
Associate 1,458,441 603,335
(b) Year/ period-end balances

2023 2022
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) (12 months) (6 months)
Entity controlled by key management personnel - 2,500

Outstanding balances of related parties are disclosed in Notes 15 and 18 respectively.

(¢) Key management personnel and director compensation

2023 2022
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) (12 months) (6 months)
Director remuneration 83,677 36,000
Director bonus
- October 2021 to March 2022 15,234 -
- April 2022 to March 2023 58,071 -
Key management personnel remuneration 591,579 234,216
Key management bonus 37,500 9,796
786,001 280,012

(d) Significant agreements with related parties
Management fees
The Company entered into management memorandums with MJTD for which to provide

management services. Under the term of these memorandums, the Company is entitled to receive
management fees as stipulated in the memorandum and will expire in January 2024,

26. Events occurring after the reporting date
Board of Directors of the Company has resolved on 24 April 2023 to propose a dividend of Ks. 50
per share based on the financial position as at 31 March 2023.

27.  Authorisation of financial statements

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 were
authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Company’s Board of Directors on 9 May
2023.
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MTSH MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS PUBLIC CO. LTD.

Shwe Zabu River View Complex, 23G-1, No.38B, Tower (A), Penthouse-01 & 02, Strand Road, Ahlone Township,
Yangon, Myanmar. Tel: (+#951) 2301731, Email: info@mtshmyanmar.com
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Financial instruments and financial risks

Overview
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= Foreign exchange risk

*  Credit risk

*  Market risk

= Liquidity and cash flows risk
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Trade receivables
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Liquidity and cash flows risk
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Capital management
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DIRECTORY

RESPONSIBLE ENTITY

MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS PUBLIC CO., LTD.

Company Registration No. 151830293

SHWE ZABU RIVER VIEW COMPLEX, 23G-1, NO.3B,

TOWER (A), PENTHOUSE- 01 & 02, STRAND ROAD, AHLIONE TOWNSHIP, YANGON, MYANMAR.

ASSOCIATE

MYANMAR JAPAN THILAWA DEVELOPMENT LIMITED

Company Registration No. 103789656
ADMINITRATION BUILDING, MJTD OFFICE,
DAGON THILAWA ROAD, THILAWA SEZ, THANLYIN TOWNSHIP, YANGON

SUBSIDIARY

THILAWA PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT LIMITED

Company Registration No.101952428
TPD OPERATION CENTRE, THILAWA SPECIAL ECONOMIC ZONE, R&C AREA, ZONE (A), KYAUK TAN
TOWNSHIP, YANGON, MYANMAR

AUDITOR

WIN THIN & ASSOCIATES (CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT)
ROOM (2B/2C), 1ST FLOOR, ROSE CONDOMINIUM, NO, 182/194, BOTAHTAUNG PAGODA ROAD,
PAZUNDAUNG TOWNSHIP, YANGON

INVESTOR INQUIRES

MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS PUBLIC CO., LTD.
SHWE ZABU RIVER VIEW COMPLEX,23G-1, NO.3B,
TOWER (A), PENTHOUSE- 01 & 02, STRAND ROAD, AHLIONE TOWNSHIP, YANGON, MYANMAR

TEL: +95 1 2301772, 2301773, 2301853
WEB: www.mtshmyanmar.com
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